

登輝控股有限公司 Town Ray Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Stock Code: 1692



ANNUAL 2024
REPORT

CONTENTS

2	Corporate Information
3-5	Chairman's Statement
6-13	Management Discussion and Analysis
14-22	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
23-40	Corporate Governance Report
41-56	Report of the Directors
57-61	Independent Auditor's Report
62	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
63	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
64-65	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
66	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
67-68	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
69-125	Notes to Financial Statements
126	Financial Summary

CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wai Ming (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chiu Wai Kwong Ms. Tang Mei Wah Dr. Yu Kwok Wai

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chan Kam Kwong Charles (Chairman)

Ms. Cheng Yuk Sim Connie

(also known as Ms. Cheng Yuk Yee Connie)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny

Mr. Chan Shing Jee

Ms. Chan Tak Yi

Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina

Mr. Chan Ping Yim (retired on 21 June 2024)

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Ms. Chan Tak Yi (Chairperson)

Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny

Mr. Chan Shing Jee

Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina

Mr. Chan Ping Yim (retired on 21 June 2024)

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Chan Shing Jee (Chairperson)

Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny

Ms. Chan Tak Yi

Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina

Mr. Chan Ping Yim (retired on 21 June 2024)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny (Chairperson)

Mr. Chan Shing Jee

Ms. Chan Tak Yi

Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina

Mr. Chan Ping Yim (retired on 21 June 2024)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Wai Kwong

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Chan Wai Mina

Mr. Chiu Wai Kwong

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Workshop A, 25th Floor

Reason Group Tower

No. 403 Castle Peak Road - Kwai Chung

Kwai Chung

New Territories

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN **ISLANDS**

Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350

Grand Cavman KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN **ISLANDS**

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited

Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108

Cavman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F. Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

(As to Hong Kong law)

ONC Lawyers

19/F, Three Exchange Square

8 Connaught Place

Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

27/F. One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.townray.com

STOCK CODE

1692

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the "Board") of directors (the "Directors") of Town Ray Holdings Limited (the "Company" or "Town Ray", together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the "Group" or "we", "ours" or "us"), I am pleased to present to our valued shareholders (the "Shareholder(s)") the annual report of our Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the "Year").

The Year showcased the resilience and adaptability of Town Ray as we successfully navigated a complex and everevolving global landscape. Despite facing significant challenges, Town Ray delivered steady results, driven by the unwavering dedication of our staff, the loyalty of our customers, and our steadfast commitment to innovation and operational excellence.

Throughout the Year, ongoing geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine and trade protectionism between the United States (the "**U.S.**") and the People's Republic of China (the "**PRC**") created uncertainties. The management closely monitored the situation to migrate its impact. On the other hand, Eurozone inflation reached a three-year low during the Year, providing a favourable backdrop that enabled us to capitalise on emerging opportunities and strengthen our market position.

Sustainability remains a cornerstone of our strategy. During the Year, we advanced our commitment to sustainable development by promoting "New Quality Productive Forces", a new development philosophy that features high-tech, high quality and high efficiency.

To capture the opportunities brought by technologies, we focused on driving innovation across industries, products, materials, production methods, and information technologies. By embracing Industry 4.0, we invested in automated production and big data analytics, upgrading our facilities to enhance efficiency and productivity. These advancements have positioned us at the forefront of technological evolution in our sector.

Regarding high-quality development, we maintained ambitious standards in production and prioritised the development of high-value products. We achieved higher output volumes with increased production capacity while upholding our quality standards during the Year. This has allowed us to optimise facility utilisation and deliver competitive pricing to our customers.

On the high-efficiency front, environmental sustainability remained our top priority. We integrated eco-friendly practices across our operations, responding to the growing demand for sustainable products. Our investments in energy-saving initiatives and green technologies not only aligned with global environmental standards but also enhanced operational efficiency, reduced costs, and reinforced our competitive advantage on environmental friendliness. These efforts further strengthened our reputation as a responsible corporate citizen.

Recognising that our human resources are our most valuable asset, we focused on expanding and nurturing our talent pool. During the Year, we significantly expanded our quality design, sales and marketing teams to attract and retain top talents. We also strengthened our talent development programmes and implemented a senior management succession plan to cultivate future leaders. Additionally, we enhanced our internal audit processes to promote greater transparency and accountability across the Group.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

For the Year, our revenue amounted to approximately HK\$703.6 million. The gross profit of our Group for the Year was approximately HK\$231.7 million, with a gross profit margin of approximately 32.9%. Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the Year was approximately HK\$107.6 million, with a net profit margin of approximately 15.3%. Earnings per share of the Company for the Year amounted to approximately HK29.97 cents (2023: HK34.04 cents).

The Group's achievements in the Year were well-recognised by obtaining several prestigious awards, including the "Smart Learning Enterprise Award" and "Innovation Pioneer Award" presented by the Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong, the "Chief Happiness Officer Appreciation Awards - Top 10 Happy Companies to Work For" presented by the Chief Happiness Officer Association, and the "2024 Greater Bay Area Listed Companies ESG100 Green Development Awards — Corporate Governance Award of the Year" presented by the Greater Bay Area Association of Listed Companies. These accolades acknowledge our team's professionalism, hard work and dedication.

Additionally, the exceptional leadership and contributions of our senior management were decorated with multiple awards during the Year. Mr. Chan Wai Ming, chief executive officer and executive Director, received the "Directors of The Year Award 2024" from the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in recognition of his significant contributions to social responsibility, corporate governance, and innovation. Ms. Tung Ming Yiu, accounting director, was awarded the "Asia Pacific Enterprise Awards (APEA®) - Master Entrepreneur Award 2024" by Enterprise Asia. Mr. Luk Hok Keung, innovation and applied technology director, was recognised as "Asia's Most Inspiring Executives" at the 2024 Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability Awards by MORS Group.

To show our appreciation to our Shareholders for their continuous support, the Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK16.1 cents per ordinary share (2023: HK15.1 cents) for the Year.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2025, we continue to pursue our avenues for growth. One of our most promising initiatives is the launch of our 4th generation fully automatic coffee machines with a new brewing system, which have already received positive feedback from customers, underscoring our commitment to product quality and innovation. Additionally, we are revisiting the potential of our garment care appliances, which are stimulated by renewed customer interest and demand. This presents a promising opportunity for us to expand our offerings and better meet the evolving needs of our customers.

To further drive growth, we will continue to focus on fostering new customer relationships and broadening our sales channels. These efforts are expected to increase orders and create a more diversified sales spectrum, enabling us to reach a wider audience and strengthen our market presence.

In 2025, we will continue to prioritise product development, delivering solutions that combine enhanced quality, aesthetic design, and superior materials. Our integration of cutting-edge technologies, including manufacturing operations management ("MOM"), robotic process automation ("RPA"), 3D simulation, advanced communication facilities, and artificial intelligence ("AI") capabilities, will position us as a leader in innovation within our industry.

With a clear strategic vision, a commitment in innovation, and a focus on customer-centric solutions, Town Ray is well-positioned to seize the opportunities of 2025 and beyond. We are excited about the journey ahead and remain dedicated to delivering maximum value to our stakeholders.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest gratitude to the Board, the management, and all our staff for their unwavering dedication and commitment throughout the Year. Although 2024 presented its challenges, we achieved consistent and meaningful results together. I also extend my sincere appreciation to our customers, business partners, and Shareholders for their steadfast support during the Year. Moving forward, we remain committed to delivering sustainable, long-term value for all our stakeholders and will continue to work diligently toward this objective.

Chan Kam Kwong Charles

Chairman and non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 17 March 2025

COMPANY PROFILE

The Group is an advanced product developer, industrial designer, manufacturer, and supplier for a broad range of mid-to-high-end electrothermic household appliances to internationally renowned brands in overseas markets, covering over 30 countries and regions, with many of the Group's customers being reputable and well-developed international brands. The Group's electrothermic household products are grouped into two categories, namely (i) garment care appliances, including steam generator irons, garment steamers and steam irons; and (ii) cooking appliances, including coffee machines, steam cooking appliances and other cooking appliances.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The complex economic landscape of 2024 was shaped by several key trends: ongoing geopolitical tensions, the imposition of sanctions and trade protectionism, rapid technological advancements, and varying rates of economic recovery across regions. Ongoing geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine and trade protectionism between the U.S. and the PRC continue to impact trade policies. These geopolitical dynamics have led to increased sanctions and trade tariffs, prompting a critical re-evaluation of global supply chains and necessitating agility and responsiveness from businesses. Meanwhile, the rapid pace of technological advancement, particularly in Al and green technologies, has created new opportunities for growth and efficiency. Additionally, post-pandemic recovery has been uneven among different economies, which affects trade volumes and demand for goods across different areas. Inflationary pressures and shifting monetary policies further influence purchasing power and trade dynamics. Amid these challenges, Town Ray successfully maintained stable order volumes by diversifying its customer base, adopting advanced production technologies and adapting to the evolving demands of various regions.

Over the Year, the Group embraced instrumental key internal initiatives to elevate production quality and streamline operations, such as extensive employee training programmes, the integration of automation technologies in production, and the adoption of Industry 4.0 principles. These initiatives were put in place to enhance the Group's competitive edge and solidify its market position during the Year.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2025, the business environment remains complex, yet Town Ray is cautiously optimistic about the new opportunities emerging amidst these challenges. The market landscape shows signs of improvement, offering potential for expansion and growth. While recent trade tariff increases give rise to a re-evaluation of the Group's strategy for the U.S. market, Town Ray is actively exploring alternative regions, including the Middle East, Southeast Asia, and the PRC, to capitalise on the untapped growth opportunities. The Group's efforts to diversify markets have expanded its sales spectrum, enabling it to reach a broader audience and strengthen its global market presence. In 2025, Town Ray expects these strategic initiatives to positively impact sales as they are fully implemented.

Town Ray remains steadfast in its commitment to product development, focusing on enhanced quality, aesthetic design, superior materials, and advanced technologies while preserving its core competitive advantages. A highlight of 2025 will be Town Ray launching its 4th generation fully automatic coffee machines featuring a new brewing system, marking a significant milestone in its product line. This series includes several models designed to deliver premium coffee quality and cater for diverse consumer segments, which ensures Town Ray meets its customers' preferences and needs. Each model showcases innovative features and cutting-edge technology, reflecting Town Ray's dedication to excellence and innovation. These coffee machines embody superior craftsmanship and integrate user-friendly functionalities that elevate the coffee-making experience. The response from the customer base has been positive. This advancement underscores Town Ray's ability to deliver products that resonate with consumers and reinforces its position as a market leader.

Town Ray is also dedicated to integrating diverse advanced technologies across its product lines and operational processes, reinforcing its commitment to innovation and operational efficiency. Town Ray is streamlining workflows and improving operational efficiency by enhancing its office administration systems and MOM solutions, which enable real-time data collection and analysis for informed decision-making. Additionally, Town Ray is upgrading its communication facilities to ensure seamless internal and external communications, which fosters collaboration and agility in response to market demands.

Al plays a pivotal role in Town Ray's technological advancements, optimising manufacturing processes and enhancing customer engagement. By predicting consumer preferences, improving product recommendations, and refining service delivery, Town Ray aims to elevate overall customer satisfaction. Automation and RPA are being implemented to reduce manual intervention, improve accuracy, and enhance operational efficiency. Furthermore, 3D simulation technology allows the Group to visualise and test product designs before production, minimising errors and ensuring optimal quality.

As Town Ray approaches 2025, the Group will continue to delivering innovative, high-quality products while championing sustainability and operational excellence. Its strategic initiatives, underpinned by a strong commitment to technological advancement and market diversification, position Town Ray for sustained growth and long-term success. The Group will stay agile and responsive to the changes and pursue fruitful and sustainable values for its customers and Shareholders by leveraging its expertise, excellent management and execution.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The total revenue of the Group slightly decreased by approximately HK\$0.8 million or approximately 0.1% from approximately HK\$704.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$703.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such a decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in the sales of garment care appliances, which was offset by the increase in the sales of cooking appliances during the Year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately HK\$13.7 million or approximately 5.6% from approximately HK\$245.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$231.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The gross profit margin of the Group decreased by approximately 1.9 percentage points from approximately 34.8% for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately 32.9% for the year ended 31 December 2024. The decrease in gross profit and gross profit margin was mainly attributable to the increase in raw material costs and direct labour costs during the Year.

Other Income and Gain, Net

Other income and gain, net of the Group increased by approximately HK\$4.2 million from approximately HK\$14.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$18.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such an increase was mainly due to the following factors: (i) the increase in exchange gain of approximately HK\$2.5 million, (ii) the increase in consultancy income of approximately HK\$2.1 million; and (iii) the increase in the receipt of government subsidies of approximately HK\$0.9 million during the Year, which was partially offset by the decrease in bank interest income of approximately HK\$1.4 million, resulted from the combined effect of lower deposit interest rates and a decrease in bank deposits during the Year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group decreased by approximately HK\$1.6 million from approximately HK\$17.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$15.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such a decrease was mainly due to the decrease in advertising and promotion expenses and staff costs during the Year. The advertising and promotion expenses decreased by approximately HK\$1.2 million from approximately HK\$3.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$2.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was due to the absence of advertising and promotion fees payable to an independent service provider during the Year while such fee was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2023. The staff costs decreased by approximately HK\$0.5 million from approximately HK\$10.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$10.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses of the Group increased by approximately HK\$4.8 million from approximately HK\$94.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$98.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such an increase was mainly due to the following factors: (i) the increase in employee benefit expenses (including directors' remuneration) of approximately HK\$1.6 million from approximately HK\$62.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$64.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024; (ii) the increase in depreciation on right-of-use assets of approximately HK\$1.3 million from approximately HK\$3.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024; and (iii) the increase in legal and professional fee of approximately HK\$1.3 million from approximately HK\$2.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$3.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Other Expenses, Net

Other expenses, net of the Group increased by approximately HK\$3.9 million to approximately HK\$3.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such an increase was mainly due to the increase in the impairment of trade receivables, net during the Year.

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group decreased by approximately HK\$0.3 million from approximately HK\$2.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$2.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such a decrease was mainly due to the decrease in approximately HK\$0.3 million in interest expense on lease liabilities during the Year.

Income Tax Expense

With the profit before tax of the Group decreased by approximately HK\$16.4 million from approximately HK\$146.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$130.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, the income tax expense of the Group decreased by approximately HK\$1.8 million from approximately HK\$24.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$22.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The effective tax rates of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 were approximately 16.7% and 17.5%, respectively, representing an increase of approximately 0.8 percentage point during the Year.

Net Profit

As a result of the foregoing, the net profit of the Group decreased by approximately HK\$14.6 million or approximately 11.9% from approximately HK\$122.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK\$107.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The net profit margin of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 were approximately 17.3% and 15.3%, respectively, representing a decrease of approximately 2.0 percentage points during the Year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

There were no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Year.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has capital commitments in respect of purchases of property, plant and equipment, which had been contracted but not provided for in the consolidated financial statements, in the total amount of approximately HK\$6.5 million (2023: approximately HK\$1.5 million), of which approximately HK\$4.7 million will be settled through the net proceeds (the "Net Proceeds") raised from the share offer (the "Share Offer") of the Company for the listing (the "Listing") of its shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") in 2019 and the remaining balance to be settled through internal resources of the Group. Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other capital commitments for the Year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, mainly U.S. dollar ("**USD**") and Renminbi ("**RMB**"). Hence, exposure to exchange rate fluctuations arises. The Group does not engage in foreign currency hedging as the exposure to exchange rate fluctuations is insignificant. During the Year, the Group did not have any financial instruments for hedging purposes or any foreign currency investments which were hedged by currency borrowings and other hedging instruments. However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely to keep the net exposure at an acceptable level.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Except for the commitments in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements and the paragraph headed "Capital Commitments" above in this annual report, the Group did not have any specific plans for material investments and capital assets as at 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group (calculated by the total of interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by total equity) was approximately 11.3% (2023: approximately 6.2%). Such an increase was mainly due to the increase in interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group during the Year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group operates a conservative set of funding and treasury policies to preserve the value of the Group's assets and ensure that no unnecessary risk is taken with respect to the Group's assets. No financial instrument other than cash and bank deposits were held by the Group during the Year.

The Group has principally funded the liquidity and capital requirements through capital contributions from the Shareholders, bank borrowings and net cash generated from operating activities. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK\$75.9 million (2023: approximately HK\$187.7 million). Most of the Group's cash and cash equivalents were denominated in USD and RMB. As at 31 December 2024, the current ratio of the Group was approximately 2.0 times (2023: approximately 2.5 times). The financial resources presently available to the Group include cash and cash equivalents, bank borrowings and the Net Proceeds. The Directors are of the view that the Group has sufficient working capital for its future requirements. There was no change in the capital structure of the Group during the Year. During the Year, the Group did not hold or sell any treasury shares.

DEBTS AND CHARGES ON ASSETS

The total interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately HK\$40.0 million as at 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately HK\$21.4 million). As at 31 December 2024, the Group had pledged deposits of approximately HK\$0.8 million (2023: approximately HK\$0.1 million) in support of the issue of four letters of credit by two banks and there was a mortgage loan of approximately HK\$18.0 million (2023: approximately HK\$20.5 million) secured by a property of the Group, which had a carrying value of approximately HK\$46.1 million (2023: approximately HK\$74.3 million). Other than the above, there was no charge made or subsisting on assets of the Group as at 31 December 2024.

The maturity profile of the bank borrowings of the Group as at each respective year end was as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Within one year In the second year In the third to fifth years, inclusive Beyond five years	24,429 2,487 7,462 5,597	3,090 2,750 7,462 8,084
Total	39,975	21,386

All bank borrowings made by the Group were denominated in Hong Kong dollar and RMB. None of the bank borrowings were at a fixed interest rate. As at 31 December 2024, all bank borrowings of the Group were at floating interest rates with reference to the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (HIBOR) and the CNH Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (CNH HIBOR).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The followings are some principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, which may materially adversely affect its business, financial condition or results of operations:

- (i) The Group's business and operations may be seriously affected by the outbreak of an epidemic or other public health incidents, which may cause lockdown, travel restrictions and suspension of work in the PRC, Hong Kong or elsewhere;
- (ii) There has been an ongoing military conflicts between Russia and Ukraine and in the Middle East region, which may affect the European or even the global's supply chain and logistics, consumers' sentiment and demand, raw materials and production prices, interest rates and inflation rates. Such ongoing conflicts may cause a negative impact on the sales and performance of the Group;

- (iii) The Group's sales are subject to changes in consumer preferences and other macroeconomic factors that affect consumer spending patterns. If the Group fails to design and develop products with acceptable quality, or falls behind its competitors in improving its product quality or product variety, the Group's operating results and financial condition may be adversely affected;
- (iv) The Group relies on a few major customers and its performance will be materially and adversely affected if the Group's relationship with any one of them deteriorates;
- The Group's business and financial position may be adversely affected if it is not able to continue servicing the European market effectively or if there is any adverse change in the macroeconomic situation or economic downturn in Europe;
- (vi) The Group's results of operations could be adversely affected if it fails to keep pace with customer demands and preferences on product design, research and development and manufacturing of its products; and
- (vii) The Group may not be successful in the development of new initiatives or improvement in the quality of its existing products.

For further information, please refer to the detailed discussion on the risk factors in the section headed "Risk factors" in the prospectus (the "**Prospectus**") of the Company dated 15 October 2019.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for the Company's investment in various subsidiaries, the Company did not hold any significant investments as at 31 December 2024.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 1,075 full-time employees (2023: 993). The Group has adopted its human resources policies and procedures to determine individual remuneration with reference to factors such as qualifications, experience, performance, merits, responsibilities of each individual, market conditions, etc. Remuneration packages are normally reviewed on a regular basis. Apart from salary payments, staff are also entitled to other staff benefits such as continuing education subsidies, provident fund contributions, medical insurance coverage, annual leave, discretionary bonus and share options which may be granted under the share option scheme (the "Share Option Scheme") adopted by the Company at the annual general meeting held on 25 May 2023 (the "Adoption Date"). The Group also provides induction and other on-the-job trainings to employees on a regular basis. The total staff costs (excluding directors' remuneration) incurred by the Group during the Year was approximately HK\$116.6 million (2023: approximately HK\$120.4 million).

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

As the production of the Group mainly takes place in the PRC, the Group's business is subject to the relevant PRC national and local environmental laws and regulations, such as the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC. These laws and regulations govern a broad range of environmental matters, including discharge of wastewater and disposal of hazardous wastes. The relevant laws and regulations include "Environmental Protection Law of the PRC" (《中華人民共和國環境保護法》), "Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution" 《中華人民共和國大氣污染防治法》), and "Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC" (《中華人民共和國水污染防治法》), etc. For details of the environmental protection laws and regulations applicable to the Group, please refer to the section headed "Regulatory Overview" in the Prospectus.

The Group follows the latest national and regional environmental protection laws and regulations, thereby minimising the impact on the environment, implementing different measures to optimise the workplace environment, and continuing to address environmental issues in relation to global warming, pollution, and biodiversity.

During the Year, the Group strictly complied with relevant laws and regulations relating to air pollutants and greenhouse gas emissions, discharge into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. During the Year, the Group is not subject to any material environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties, administrative or disciplinary actions.

For further information in relation to the environmental policies of the Group, please refer to the environmental, social and governance report for the Year, which will be published by the Company according to the requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the "Listing Rules").

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC in all material respects.

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the "Code Provision(s)") set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code") in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all the applicable Code Provisions set out in the CG Code during the Year and up to the date of this annual report. For further information in respect of the corporate governance of the Group during the Year, please refer to the section headed "Corporate Governance Report" in this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Directors resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK16.1 cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK15.1 cents). Payment of the final dividend is subject to the Shareholders' approval at the annual general meeting of the Company scheduled to be held on Monday, 26 May 2025 (the "2025 AGM").

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND EMPLOYEES

During the Year, the Group has maintained good relationships with its customers, suppliers and employees. The Group will continue to ensure effective communication and maintain good relationships with them.

Customers

The Group has established long-term relationships with its major customers who are reputable and internationally-recognised brand companies headquartered in Europe. The Group has built up a strong presence in the electrothermic household appliances manufacturing industry and established good and close business relationships with its major customers. With the long-term cooperation with such internationally-recognised brand companies, the Group has developed its capabilities with reference to international standards in terms of safety and quality assurance on electrothermic household appliances worldwide.

Suppliers

The Group sources electrical parts, plastic raw materials and parts, metal raw materials and parts, power cords and lead wires, and electronic parts from its approved suppliers or suppliers designated by its customers. Given the well-established business relationships with its suppliers, the Group is able to secure a stable supply of safe and high quality raw materials with competitive procurement price.

Employees

The Group recognises employees as valuable assets of the Group. The Group intends to adopt competitive remuneration and high standard welfare benefits policy and offer continuous professional training to attract and retain appropriate and suitable talents to serve the Group.

During the Year, there was no material dispute between the Group and its customers, suppliers and employees, respectively.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

The Net Proceeds from the issue of 100,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company at HK\$1.30 each by way of the Share Offer received by the Company in relation to the Listing of its shares on the Stock Exchange on 25 October 2019 (the "**Listing Date**") were approximately HK\$90.7 million, after deducting the underwriting fees and related expenses. From the Listing Date to 31 December 2023, the Company utilised approximately HK\$73.9 million of the Net Proceeds. The amount of unutilised Net Proceeds brought forward to the beginning of the Year was approximately HK\$16.8 million. Below table sets out the status of application of the Net Proceeds during the Year:

	Total planned use of Net Proceeds HK\$ million	Actual use of Net Proceeds from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024 HK\$ million	Net Proceeds utilised during the Year HK\$ million	Remaining balance of Net Proceeds as at 31 December 2024 HK\$ million	Expected timeline for the intended use
(A) Upgrading production facilities and enhancing production capacity	50.4	50.4	-	-	-
(B) Strengthening product design and development capabilities and increasing product offerings	31.6	28.8	10.8	2.8	By December 2025
(C) Strengthening customer base	3.0	3.0	-	-	_
(D) Upgrading information technology systems	5.7	4.4	1.9	1.3	By June 2025
Total	90.7	86.6	12.7	4.1	

From the Listing Date to 31 December 2024, the Company utilised approximately HK\$86.6 million of the Net Proceeds and the unutilised Net Proceeds as at 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK\$4.1 million. The Company has used the Net Proceeds and intends to use the remaining balance of the Net Proceeds in accordance with the proposed application set out in the section headed "Future plans and use of proceeds" in the Prospectus. However, there has been a further delay in the use of the Net Proceeds allocated for strengthening product design and development capabilities and increasing product offerings during the Year, since additional time was required to carry out the research and development for the new and specific products for the new markets. It is expected that the remaining balance of the Net Proceeds allocated to strengthening product design and development capabilities and increasing product offerings will be fully utilised by 31 December 2025.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Wai Ming (陳偉明先生) ("Mr. Chan"), aged 56, was appointed as a Director on 28 September 2017 and was re-designated as an executive Director on 28 February 2019. He also serves as the chief executive officer of our Group. He is primarily responsible for the overall administration management and formulation of business strategies of our Group. He is also a director of Town Ray Investments (BVI) Limited, Town Ray Development Limited, Town Ray Enterprises Limited, Town Ray Hong Kong Limited, Tunbow Group Limited, Town Ray Business Development & Marketing Limited and Town Ray Electrical (Huizhou) Limited.

Mr. Chan has over 27 years of experience in accounting. He was a staff accountant at Ernst & Young, certified public accountant in Hong Kong, from October 1997 to January 2000. He was an accountant from February 2000 to December 2000 and the chief accountant from January 2001 to March 2002 of China Sci-Tech Holdings Limited (currently known as CST Group Limited) (stock code: 985), a company listed on the Stock Exchange from February 1994 to December 2023, respectively. He was also the financial controller of Full Apex (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited, from March 2002 to September 2004. He worked as the financial controller of Tunbow Industries Limited from August 2004 to December 2004 and Tunbow Electrical Limited from January 2005 to April 2016. Mr. Chan joined Tunbow Group Limited as corporate finance and business development officer in May 2016.

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Hawaii, Honolulu in December 1995 with a bachelor's degree in business administration with a major in accounting. He has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 1999. He also became a certified public accountant of the Washington State Board of Accountancy in April 1998 and is currently an inactive certified public accountant. Mr. Chan was awarded an associateship (electrical appliance industry) of The Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries since November 2012. He was awarded as ESG certified professional by the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies in March 2025. He is currently a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Further, since November 2021, Mr. Chan has been appointed as a committee member of the 9th Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference of Huizhou City Huicheng District (中國人民政治協商會議惠州市惠城區委員會). Mr. Chan has been appointed as the vice president of the 6th council and has been the executive vice president of the 7th and 8th council of the Huizhou City Huicheng District Foreign Investment Enterprise Association (惠州市 惠城區外商投資企業協會) from November 2015 to October 2016 and since November 2016, respectively. He has been the vice president of the 6th to 8th council of the Huizhou City Foreign Investment Enterprise Association (惠 州市外商投資企業協會) since July 2015. He was the executive vice president of the management committee of the 1st to 2nd council and has been the chairman of the 3rd council of the Huizhou Ganghui Love Foundation (惠州 市港惠愛心基金會) from March 2016 to December 2022 and since December 2022, respectively. He has been an executive committee member and executive vice president of the Huizhou Division of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries of Pearl River Delta Council (香港工業總會珠三角工業協會惠州分部) since September 2015 and September 2021, respectively. Since December 2019, he has been appointed as a committee member of the 7th council of the Guangdong Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment (廣東外商投資企業協會). Since April 2021, he has been a committee member of the Guang Dong Household Electrical Appliances Trade Association (廣東省家用電 器行業協會). In November 2024, Mr. Chan was awarded the Directors of the Year Awards 2024 by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Chiu Wai Kwong (趙維光先生) ("Mr. Chiu"), aged 60, was appointed as a Director on 28 September 2017 and was re-designated as an executive Director on 28 February 2019. He is the company secretary of our Company and also serves as the finance director of our Group. He is primarily responsible for the overall financial management, investment operation and budgeting of our Group. He is also a director of Town Ray Investments (BVI) Limited, Town Ray Development Limited, Town Ray Enterprises Limited, Town Ray Hong Kong Limited, Tunbow Group Limited, Town Ray Business Development & Marketing Limited and Town Ray Electrical (Huizhou) Limited.

Mr. Chiu has over 37 years of experience in accounting and finance. He worked at the Inland Revenue Department as an assistant assessor from June 1987 to July 1991. He was the financial controller of Oceania Brothers Manufacturing Co., Ltd from August 1991 to November 1997. He worked at Tunbow Industries Limited as the financial controller from January 1998 to December 2004 and Tunbow Electrical Limited as the finance director from January 2005 to March 2009. He joined Tunbow Group Limited as a director in November 2007 and as finance director in April 2009.

Mr. Chiu graduated from the University of Hong Kong in November 1987 with a bachelor's degree of social sciences. He has been a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (formerly known as the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants) since May 1996, a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since October 2004 and a chartered financial analyst of the CFA Institute since September 2006. He has been a certified internal auditor of the Institute of Internal Auditors since March 2024.

Mr. Chiu has been awarded an associateship (electrical appliance industry) of The Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries since November 2012. In September 2021, he was awarded as the Best Corporate Leader under iMoney Enterprise Awards 2021 by the iMoney magazine.

Ms. Tang Mei Wah (鄧美華女士) ("Ms. Tang"), aged 50, was appointed as a Director on 28 September 2017 and was re-designated as an executive Director on 28 February 2019. She also serves as the managing director of our Group. She is primarily responsible for the overall operation management, formulation of business strategies and overall administration of our Group. She is also a director of Tunbow Group Limited, Town Ray Business Development & Marketing Limited and Town Ray Electrical (Huizhou) Limited.

Ms. Tang has over 26 years of experience in the household appliances industry. From September 1998 to January 2005, Ms. Tang worked at Tunbow Industries Limited with the last position as account manager. From January 2005 to April 2009, Ms. Tang worked at Tunbow Electrical Limited with the last position as marketing manager. She joined Tunbow Group Limited as a director in November 2007 and was promoted to managing director in March 2013.

Ms. Tang graduated from Hong Kong Shue Yan College in July 1998 with a diploma in business administration. She subsequently obtained a master's degree in business administration from the University of Louisiana at Monroe through long distance learning in December 2001. She has been awarded a fellowship of Management and Business Administration (FMBA®) by The Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries since September 2020.

Ms. Tang was one of the 16 recipients of the Outstanding Businesswomen Award 2018 awarded in December 2018 by Hong Kong Commercial Daily. In November 2020, Ms. Tang was awarded the 2020 the Greater Bay Area Outstanding Women Entrepreneur Awards jointly presented by the Hong Kong Small and Medium Enterprises Association and the Metro Finance. Ms. Tang was also awarded the Best Employer Award 2020 by the Hong Kong Small and Medium Enterprises Association and JCI Dragon in July 2020. In May 2021, Ms. Tang was awarded the Greater China Outstanding Entrepreneur Awards by Hong Kong Commercial Daily. Ms. Tang was also elected as director of the 42nd board of director of Yan Oi Tong from April 2021 to March 2022. In November 2022, Ms. Tang was awarded the Directors of the Year Awards 2022 by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Dr. Yu Kwok Wai (俞國偉博士) **("Dr. Yu")**, aged 48, was appointed as a Director on 28 September 2017 and was re-designated as an executive Director on 28 February 2019. He also serves as the marketing director of our Group. He is primarily responsible for the overall management, formulation of business strategies and overall marketing management, daily operation management and product development planning of our Group. He is also a director of Tunbow Group Limited, Town Ray Business Development & Marketing Limited and Town Ray Electrical (Huizhou) Limited.

Dr. Yu has over 22 years of experience in the sales and marketing of household appliances. Dr. Yu was a sales executive of Sweda Limited from October 1994 to September 1995, a marketing and sales executive of Hon Hing Computer and Machinery Company Limited from February 1996 to May 1997 and a marketing assistant of Joint Publishing (Hong Kong) Company Limited from August 1997 to July 1998. He worked at Tunbow Industries Limited as a sales executive from July 2002 to December 2004 and Tunbow Electrical Limited as a marketing manager from January 2005 to March 2009. He joined Tunbow Group Limited as a director in November 2007 and as a marketing director in April 2009.

Dr. Yu graduated from Bond University in June 2002 with a bachelor's degree of arts. He subsequently obtained a master's degree of social sciences in applied psychology from the City University of Hong Kong in October 2013 and a master's degree of science in business analytics and a doctoral degree in business administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in September 2022 and October 2024 respectively. Dr Yu further obtained an international award in barista skills (Chinese) from The City and Guilds of London Institute in December 2016 and certification in barista skills intermediate, roasting intermediate, green bean professional, brewing intermediate, coffee sustainability professional, a coffee diploma, and a sustainable coffee diploma from the Specialty Coffee Association from 2017 to 2024. In August 2022, Dr. Yu was certified by Lean Six Sigma Professionals Association and International Lean Six Sigma Institute for his professional attainment in six sigma black belt body of knowledge. He has been awarded a fellowship of Management and Business Administration (FMBA®) by The Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries since September 2020.

Since July 2017, June 2020 and July 2021, Dr. Yu has been appointed as a committee member, a secretary general and a vice chairman of the Hong Kong Mould and Product Technology Association, respectively. Since September 2019, Dr. Yu was also appointed as a committee member of the Hong Kong Federation of Innovative Technologies and Manufacturing Industries. Since April 2021, Dr. Yu has been appointed as a member of Electronics and Electrical Appliances Industries Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Centre and executive committee member of Education Committee of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries. He has been an executive member and secretary-general of the Hong Kong Young Industrialist Council since April 2021 and April 2024, respectively. He has been appointed as a vice president of the Hong Kong – Middle East Business Chamber since January 2025. In November 2020, Dr. Yu was awarded for the Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong 2020 by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Chan Kam Kwong Charles (陳鑑光博士) ("Dr. Chan"), aged 66, is one of the founders of our Group. He was appointed as a Director on 28 September 2017 and was re-designated as a non-executive Director on 28 February 2019. He also serves as the chairman of our Board. He provides advice to our Group in the overall strategic planning, development planning and investment planning. He is also a director of Town Ray Investments (BVI) Limited, Town Ray Development Limited, Town Ray Enterprises Limited, Town Ray Hong Kong Limited, Tunbow Group Limited, Leighton 2338 Properties Limited, Leighton 2348 Properties Limited, Kwun Tong 1008 Properties Limited, RGT 1238 Properties Limited, Town Ray Business Development & Marketing Limited and Town Ray Electrical (Huizhou) Limited. Dr. Chan is the husband of Ms. Cheng, a non-executive Director.

Dr. Chan has over 48 years of experience in the household appliances industry. He worked at Dixons Stores Group (Far East) Limited from January 1977 to October 1993 with the first position as assistant buyer and the last positions as senior buyer and director. He was a director of Town Ray International Limited from July 1994 to April 2015. He was a director of Tunbow Limited from July 1992 to November 1993 and rejoined as a director since March 1994. He has been a director of Tunbow Industries Limited and Tunbow Electrical Limited since November 1993 and July 1995, respectively. He has been a director of Tunbow Electrical (Huizhou) Limited and Tunbow Electronics Limited since December 2005 and April 2007, respectively. He became a director of Tunbow Group Limited in September 2017.

Dr. Chan became a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors in January 2007 and of the Canadian Chartered Institute of Business Administration in September 2009. In May 2010, Dr. Chan was awarded the 12th World Outstanding Chinese Award (世界傑出華人獎) by the World Chinese Business Investment Foundation (世界華商投資基金會). He also won the Outstanding Entrepreneurship Award at the Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Awards 2011 organised by Enterprise Asia in July 2011. Since July 2019 and July 2023, Dr. Chan had been appointed as the president and chairman of the committee of the Hong Kong Mould and Product Technology Association, respectively. Since September 2019, he has been appointed as the vice president of the 12th council of the Hong Kong Federation of Innovative Technologies and Manufacturing Industries. Dr. Chan was conferred an honorary doctorate degree in engineering from Lincoln University in September 2009. Dr. Chan attended secondary education till 1977.

Ms. Cheng Yuk Sim Connie, MH (鄭玉而女士) ("Ms. Cheng") (also known as Ms. Cheng Yuk Yee Connie (鄭玉而女士)), aged 67, is one of the founders of our Group. She was appointed as a Director on 28 September 2017 and was re-designated as a non-executive Director on 28 February 2019. She provides advice to our Group in the overall finance control, operation management and human resource management. She is also a director of Town Ray Investments (BVI) Limited, Town Ray Development Limited, Town Ray Enterprises Limited, Town Ray Hong Kong Limited, Tunbow Group Limited, Leighton 2338 Properties Limited, Leighton 2348 Properties Limited, Kwun Tong 1008 Properties Limited, RGT 1238 Properties Limited, Town Ray Business Development & Marketing Limited and Town Ray Electrical (Huizhou) Limited. Ms. Cheng is the spouse of Dr. Chan, chairman of our Board and a non-executive Director, and the aunt of Mr. Lee Kwok Ho and aunt-in-law of Mr. Luk Hok Keung, both of whom are members of our senior management.

Ms. Cheng has over 47 years of experience in management and marketing in the household appliances industry. Ms. Cheng joined Goodway Electrical Company, Limited in 1978 as a quality inspector and was a director from April 1989 to June 1994. She has been a director of Tunbow Electrical Limited since September 1994. She has been a director of Tunbow Electronics Limited since December 2005 and April 2007, respectively. She became a director of Tunbow Group Limited in September 2017.

In May 2010, Ms. Cheng was awarded the 12th World Outstanding Chinese Award (世界傑出華人獎) by the World Chinese Business Investment Foundation (世界華商投資基金會). Since October 2010, Ms. Cheng has been appointed as an honorary vice president of the Hong Kong Electrical Appliance Industries Association (formerly known as the Hong Kong Electrical Appliances Manufacturers Association). She was awarded with the Medal of Honor by the Hong Kong Government in 2014. Ms. Cheng attended secondary education till 1979.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny (蔡志良先生**)**, aged 70, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 3 October 2019. He is the chairperson of the nomination committee of the Board (the "**Nomination Committee**") and a member of the audit committee of the Board (the "**Audit Committee**") and the remuneration committee of the Board (the "**Remuneration Committee**").

Mr. Choi has approximately 44 years of relevant experience in the industry. He worked as a clerk at Electrical & Electronics Limited from September 1973 to February 1979. He was a founder and director of Ronford Industrial Limited, a company engaging in manufacturing and sale of electrical products, from January 1981 to July 1984 and of Neumax Industrial Limited, a company engaging in manufacturing and sale of electrical products, from September 1984 to September 2018. From October 2014 to August 2019, he was a director of Naree International Limited, a company providing environmental consulting services.

Mr. Choi completed his secondary education in 1972.

Mr. Chan Shing Jee (陳承志先生**)**, aged 38, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 3 October 2019. He is the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit committee and the Nomination Committee.

He has over 15 years of work experience. He was a junior client service associate of Morgan Stanley from January 2010 to March 2011 and a client servicing officer of Bank of East Asia from March 2011 to March 2013. He also works as a business manager of Prudential Hong Kong Limited since March 2015. He worked at Mega Marketing & Media Company Limited as senior project director from March 2016 to August 2016 and at Cobot Business Strategy Limited as an investment manager from September 2016 to April 2017. He was a project director of Vibes Management Company Limited from November 2016 to July 2018. He has been an administration executive of Fleming International Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hyfusin Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8512) since August 2018 to February 2021.

He graduated from University College London with a bachelor's degree in chemical engineering in August 2008 and obtained a level 4 foundation diploma in art and design from the University of the Arts London in August 2008. He subsequently obtained a master's degree of science in technology entrepreneurship in November 2009.

In addition, he is active in charitable activities. He has been an executive committee member of The Yuen Yuen Institute since February 2005 and a director of Yan Chai Hospital since April 2017. He has also been a director of The Hong Kong Taoist Association since January 2015, a school manager of Hong Kong Taoist Association The Yuen Yuen Institute No. 1 Secondary School since May 2014, a school manager of Hong Kong Taoist Association The Yuen Yuen Institute No. 2 Secondary School from May 2014 to May 2019 and since November 2019, a school manager of Hong Kong Taoist Association The Yuen Yuen Institute No. 3 Secondary School since May 2014, a school manager of The Yuen Yuen Institute MFBM Nei Ming Chan Lui Chung Tak Memorial College since July 2013, a school manager of Hong Kong Taoist Association The Yuen Yuen Institute Chan Lui Chung Tak Memorial School since September 2013, a school manager of Hong Kong Taoist Association Yuen Yuen Kindergarten (Fu Shin Estate) since July 2016 and a school manager of Hong Kong Taoist Association Yuen Yuen Kindergarten since July 2016. He also acted as a director of Lifeline Express Hong Kong Foundation from January 2013 to December 2018. Since August 2024, he has been appointed as a member of the Board of Governors of the Hong Kong Adventist Hospital Foundation – Tsuen Wan.

Ms. Chan Tak Yi (陳德宜女士), aged 42, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 21 December 2023. She is the chairperson of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Chan has over 16 years of experience in advising on corporate finance, mergers and acquisitions, and compliance with the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange, securities laws and corporate laws. She worked in Ernst & Young from November 2005 to January 2009 with the last position as senior accountant in the assurance and advisory business services department. From January 2009 to June 2014, she successively worked in two international law firms focusing on handling corporate finance and regulatory compliance matters. From July 2014 to September 2016, she was an assistant vice president of the Listing Regulation and Enforcement Department of the Listing Division (formerly known as the "Compliance & Monitoring, Listing & Regulatory Affairs Division") of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Chan joined Taylor Wessing, an international law firm, in October 2016 and is currently a partner of Taylor Wessing. Ms. Chan has been an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the nomination committee, and a member of each of the audit committee and the remuneration committee of Kinergy Corporation Ltd., the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3302), since 1 October 2024.

Ms. Chan is a practising solicitor admitted in Hong Kong and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She was awarded the degree of bachelor of social sciences (government and laws) and the degree of bachelor of laws from the University of Hong Kong in 2004 and 2005, respectively.

Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina (梁麗兒女士), aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 21 December 2023. She is a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Leung has over 38 years of experience in the financial industry. She worked at Legal & General Group Plc as a financial adviser from September 1992 to December 2003 and has been the director of Vantage Properties & Management Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the United Kingdom (the "**UK**") since May 1997. She joined Vantage Financial Services Co, a limited liability company incorporated in the UK, in October 2004 and is currently a financial adviser of Vantage Financial Services Co. Vantage Properties & Management Limited acts for major UK developers in the Asia market, assisting clients with their property investment portfolio and daily lettings and management operations. Vantage Financial Services Co is a mortgage broker providing professional advice on UK mortgages and general insurance.

Ms. Leung is a holder of certificate in mortgage advice and practice issued by the London Institute of Banking & Finance issued in 1999. She was also awarded a national certificate in business and finance by the Tottenham College of Technology of the UK in July 1990.

For the Directors' interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company, please refer to the paragraphs headed "Disclosure of Interests" in the section headed "Report of the Directors" in this annual report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lee Pak Man (李伯文先生**)**, aged 54, is the research and development director of our Group. He is responsible for the research and development of our Group. He is also the legal representative of Town Ray Electrical (Huizhou) Limited and Shanghai Changxizan e-Shopping Limited.

Mr. Lee has over 33 years of experience in product engineering, inspection and development. He joined our Group as research and development director in March 2013. Mr. Lee was an engineer of Yi Kyun Electronics Company Limited* (二權電子有限公司) from March 1992 to April 1993 and an inspector of Dixons Stores Group (Far East) Limited from April 1993 to June 1996. He worked at Tunbow Electrical Limited as an inspector from June 1996 to June 1998, as an engineer from June 1998 to June 2003 and as a senior engineer from June 2003 to April 2009. From April 2009 to March 2013, he was the research and development director of Young Tigers R&D Limited. He joined Tunbow Group Limited as research and development director in March 2013.

Mr. Lee completed his secondary vocational education in 1991.

Mr. Chu Ming Tak (朱明德先生), aged 61, is the engineering director of our Group. He is responsible for the product development of our Group.

Mr. Chu has over 36 years of experience in product engineering, inspection and development. Mr. Chu was a project engineer of Yip Tat Industrial Limited from March 1989 to March 1990, a senior engineer of Goodway Electrical Company, Limited from March 1991 to March 1994 and a senior project engineer of Nice Win Electrical Limited from March 1994 to October 1994. He worked at Tunbow Electrical Limited as engineer director from October 1994 to March 2009. From April 2009 to March 2013, he was the engineer director of Young Tigers R&D Limited. He joined Tunbow Group Limited as engineering director in April 2013.

Mr. Chu was granted a diploma in business management by the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and the Hong Kong Management Association in September 1997. He has been awarded an associateship (electrical appliance industry) of The Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries since November 2010.

Mr. Poon Ching Ching Kelvin (潘正正先生), aged 56, is the design director of our Group. He is responsible for the product design development of our Group.

Mr. Poon has over 32 years of experience in product design development. He worked at Willas International Limited as a product designer from September 1992 to September 1994. He worked at Moulin Optical Manufactory Limited (currently known as Moulin Global Eyecare Trading Limited) from September 1994 and left as new product development manager in August 2000. He worked at Tunbow Electrical Limited as design director from September 2000 to March 2013. He joined Tunbow Group Limited as a director in July 2010 and as design director in April 2013.

Mr. Poon was granted a high diploma in industrial design by the Tokyo Designer Gakuin College in March 1992, with a distinction award in his graduation project. He further obtained merit awards for Tunbow Electrical Limited at the 9th and 10th Hong Kong Household Electrical Appliances Design and Innovation Competition organised by the Hong Kong Electrical Appliances Manufacturers Association and the Hong Kong Productivity Council in November 2007 and November 2008, respectively. He has been awarded an associateship (electrical appliance industry) and a fellowship (electrical appliance industry) of The Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries since November 2010 and December 2014, respectively.

^{*} denotes unofficial names for identification purpose only

Mr. Lee Kwok Ho (李國豪先生), aged 43, is the sales director of our Group. He is responsible for the product development, project management and formulation of sales strategies of our Group. He is a nephew of Ms. Cheng, a non-executive Director.

Mr. Lee has over 15 years of experience in product development and project management. He worked at Tunbow Electrical Limited as a management trainee from June 2003 to June 2004 and an operation officer from June 2004 to March 2008. He worked as an operation officer of Young Tigers R&D Limited from April 2009 to March 2013. He joined Tunbow Group Limited as project manager in April 2013, as engineering sales manager in September 2015 and was promoted to senior sales project manager since May 2021. He was further promoted to sales director of our Group in April 2022.

Mr. Lee graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology with a bachelor's degree of engineering in industrial engineering and engineering management (with a minor in information technology) degree in November 2003 and further obtained a master's degree of science in technology management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2011. He has been awarded a fellowship of Management and Business Administration (FMBA®) by The Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries since September 2020.

Mr. Lee was appointed as process technology deputy director, process technology director and deputy treasurer of the Hong Kong Electrical Appliance Industries Association since July 2020, July 2022 and July 2024, respectively. Since August 2022 to July 2024, he was appointed as a vice chairman of the Hong Kong Adventist Hospital Foundation Board of Governors — Tsuen Wan. He was awarded the Best Employee Award 2020 by the Hong Kong Small and Medium Enterprises Association and JCI Dragon in July 2020.

Ms. Tung Ming Yiu (董銘堯女士), aged 41, is the accounting director of our Group. She is responsible for the financial management and overall accounting management of our Group.

Ms. Tung has over 19 years of experience in accounting and finance. She worked at Tunbow Electrical Limited with the last position as assistant accountant from August 2005 to October 2007. She joined Tunbow Group Limited as an assistant accountant in November 2007 and was promoted to accounting manager in September 2011. She was further promoted to finance manager in October 2019 and subsequently promoted to accounting director in April 2023.

Ms. Tung graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor's degree in business administration in accountancy in October 2008. She was a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants from January 2012 to June 2020 and has been a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since July 2020. She has been awarded a fellowship by The Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries since September 2020.

Since August 2024, Ms. Tung has been appointed as a vice chairman of the Board of Governors and chairman to Fund Raising Consultative Committee of the Hong Kong Adventist Hospital Foundation – Tsuen Wan. She was awarded the Best Employee Award 2020 by the Hong Kong Small and Medium Enterprises Association and JCI Dragon in July 2020. In March 2024, Ms. Tung was awarded the Master Entrepreneur Award 2024 in the Asia Pacific Enterprise Awards (APEA®) by Enterprise Asia.

Mr. Luk Hok Keung (陸鶴強先生), aged 43, is the innovation and applied technology director of our Group. He is responsible for identifying and evaluating emerging technologies, driving product innovation, implementing cutting-edge methodologies to enhance quality and efficiency, and continuously monitoring market dynamics to adapt our Group's innovation and technology strategies. He is a nephew-in-law of Ms. Cheng, a non-executive Director.

Mr. Luk has over 20 years of experience in procurement and product engineering. He worked at Tunbow Electrical Limited with the last position as sourcing manager from July 2004 to April 2009 and Oriental Purchasing Limited with the last position as purchasing and engineering manager from April 2009 to March 2016. He joined Tunbow Group Limited as purchasing and engineering manager in April 2016 and was promoted to innovation and applied technology director in September 2023.

Mr. Luk graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor's degree in electrical engineering in July 2004.

In November 2024, Mr. Luk was awarded as the Asia's Most Inspiring Executives at the 2024 Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability Awards by the MORS Group in Malaysia.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Wai Kwong is our company secretary for the purposes of Rule 8.17 of the Listing Rules. For details of his biography, please refer to the paragraph headed "Executive Directors" under this section.

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PURPOSE, MISSION AND VALUES

The Group is a leading product developer, industrial designer, manufacturer, and supplier for a broad range of electrothermic household appliances catering to the diverse needs of customers in overseas markets. The Group's mission is to be the top provider of advanced electrothermic household appliances. Guided by the Group's five core values of "Best Design", "Best Value", "Best Quality", "Best Communication" and "Best Service", the Group strives to provide its customers with innovative and quality products. To achieve this, the Group's strategy involves upgrading its production facilities and enhancing its production capacity, strengthening its product design and development capabilities and increasing its product offerings, strengthening its customer base and upgrading its information technology systems.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company believes that an effective corporate governance framework is fundamental to maintaining and promoting investors' confidence, safeguarding interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders and enhancing Shareholders' value.

The Company has adopted the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all the applicable Code Provisions set out in the CG Code during the Year and up to the date of this annual report. Key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are summarised below.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

After having made specific enquiry of all Directors, each of the Directors confirmed that he/she has fully complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE WRITTEN GUIDELINES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY THE RELEVANT EMPLOYEES OF THE COMPANY

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code (the "Employees Written Guidelines"), governing securities transactions by employees (including directors or employees of a subsidiary or holding company of the Company) who are likely to possess inside information of the Company and/ or its securities. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company. In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period for dealings in the Company's securities, the Company will notify its Directors and relevant employees in advance.

THE BOARD

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises ten members, consisting of four executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wai Ming (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chiu Wai Kwong Ms. Tang Mei Wah Dr. Yu Kwok Wai

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chan Kam Kwong Charles (Chairman)
Ms. Cheng Yuk Sim Connie
(also known as Ms. Cheng Yuk Yee Connie)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny

Mr. Chan Shing Jee Ms. Chan Tak Yi

Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules. During the Year, no new Director was appointed to the Board.

The biographical details of the Directors of the Company are set out under the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management" in this annual report. Save as disclosed in the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management" in this annual report, there is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships among members of the Board and senior management.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

As disclosed in the Company's circular dated 28 May 2024 and the Company's announcement dated 21 June 2024, Mr. Chan Ping Yim ("Mr. PY Chan") did not offer himself for re-election and retired as an independent non-executive Director upon the conclusion of the Company's annual general meeting held on 21 June 2024 (the "2024 AGM"). Upon the conclusion of the 2024 AGM, Mr. PY Chan retired as an independent non-executive Director.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility between the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power and authority. The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are currently held by Dr. Chan Kam Kwong Charles and Mr. Chan Wai Ming, respectively. Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in writing.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

From 1 January 2024 to 21 June 2024, the Company had five independent non-executive Directors, while Mr. PY Chan retired as an independent non-executive Director and ceased to be the chairman of the Audit Committee upon the conclusion of the 2024 AGM. The independent non-executive Directors represent at least one-third of the Board members throughout the year ended 31 December 2024, and that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chan Tak Yi, has appropriate professional qualifications on accounting or related financial management expertise. The Company has complied with Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide spectrum of business and financial expertise, experience and independent judgement to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. They are invited to serve on the Board committees of the Company. Through active participation at Board and committee meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflicts of interests, all independent non-executive Directors have made various contributions to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of both the Group and the Shareholders.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, the Company considers all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in light of the independence guidelines set out in the said Listing Rules. As at 31 December 2024, no independent non-executive Director had served more than nine years on the Board.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from the Listing Date. The term of service shall be renewed and extended automatically by three years on the expiry of such initial term and on the expiry of every successive period of three years thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto giving at least six months' written notice before the expiry of the then existing term.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from the Listing Date, except for Ms. Chan Tak Yi and Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina, who are independent non-executive Directors, entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 21 December 2023. The term of service shall be renewed and extended automatically by one year on the expiry of such initial term and on the expiry of every successive period of one year thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto giving at least two months' written notice before the expiry of the then existing term.

The procedure and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are laid down in the Company's Articles of Association (the "Articles"). The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the appointment of Directors and assessing the independent non-executive Directors.

According to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The Company at the general meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office. In addition, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

INDEPENDENT VIEWS TO THE BOARD

The Board recognises Board independence is critical to good corporate governance. The Company has put in place the mechanisms to ensure a strong independence element on the Board, which are summarised below:

Board Composition

The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors and at least one-third of the Board members being independent non-executive Directors (or such higher threshold as may be required by the Listing Rules from time to time).

Apart from complying with the requirements prescribed by the Listing Rules as to the composition of certain Board committees, independent non-executive Directors will be appointed to other Board committees as far as practicable to ensure independent views are available.

Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee shall strictly adhere to the nomination policy (the "Nomination Policy") and the independence assessment criteria as set out in the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment of independent non-executive Directors.

Each independent non-executive Director is also required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if there is any change in his/her own personal particulars that may materially affect his/her independence.

The Nomination Committee is mandated to assess annually the independence of all independent non-executive Directors by reference to the independence criteria as set out in the Listing Rules to ensure that they can continually exercise independent judgement.

Decision Making

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are entitled to seek further information and documentation from the management on the matters to be discussed at Board meetings. They can also seek assistance from the Company's company secretary and, where necessary, independent advice from external professional advisers at the Company's expense.

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving any contract or arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her close associates has a material interest.

The Board had made an annual review on the implementation of the abovementioned mechanisms and was of the view that the abovementioned mechanisms had been satisfactorily implemented.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance. The Board is also responsible for implementing policies in relation to financial matters, which include risk management and internal controls and compliance, if applicable. In addition, the Board reviews the financial performance of the Group and approves investment proposals, nomination of Directors to the Board and appointment of key management personnel. These functions are carried out either directly by the Board or through Board committees such as the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee.

All Directors are aware of their collective and individual responsibilities to the Shareholders, the duties to act honestly and in good faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times and to avoid conflicts of interests. Throughout the year ended 31 December 2024, in accordance with Code Provision D.1.2, all Directors were provided with monthly updates on the Company's performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and services of the company secretary and senior management, with a view to ensuring compliance with Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director may request for independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company's expense, upon reasonable request made to the Board.

Delegation of Management Functions

The Board gives clear directions as to the powers delegated to the management for the management and administration functions of the Group, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where management should report back and obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Group. Matters which are specifically reserved to the full Board for decision are those involving a conflict of interest of a substantial Shareholder or a Director, material acquisition and disposal of assets, corporate or financial restructuring, share issuance and distribution of dividends, and approval of financial results and corporate strategies. The Board will review those issues on a periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director shall receive induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure he/she has an appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company and he/she is fully aware of the Director's responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The existing Directors are continually updated on the changes and developments to the Group's business and on the latest developments in the laws, rules and regulations relating to Directors' duties and responsibilities. Directors' training is an ongoing process. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company's expense.

During the Year, all Directors have complied with the Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code by participating in sufficient relevant continuous professional training by attending the training sessions organised by the Company and/or trainings provided by external course providers enrolled by the Directors individually.

BOARD MEETINGS AND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING HELD IN 2024

The Board intends to hold Board meetings regularly at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda of meetings. For all other Board meetings, reasonable notice period will be given.

The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings held during the Year and the 2024 AGM are set out below:

	Number of	
	Board meetings	
	attended/held	Attendance of
Name of Director	during the Year	2024 AGM
	0.40	
Mr. Chan Wai Ming	6/6	1/1
Mr. Chiu Wai Kwong	6/6	1/1
Ms. Tang Mei Wah	4/6	1/1
Dr. Yu Kwok Wai	5/6	1/1
Dr. Chan Kam Kwong Charles	5/6	1/1
Ms. Cheng Yuk Sim Connie	4/6	1/1
Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny	6/6	1/1
Mr. Chan Shing Jee	6/6	1/1
Ms. Chan Tak Yi	6/6	1/1
Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina	6/6	1/1
Mr. Chan Ping Yim (retired upon the conclusion of the 2024 AGM)	4/4	1/1

In addition, the Chairman of the Board held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of the other Directors during the Year.

Minutes of the Board and committee meetings are prepared and kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open for inspection by Directors. Directors may seek external professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company's expense.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged by the Company in respect of any legal action against Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the "Board Diversity Policy") pursuant to the requirement of the CG Code. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

In designing the Board's composition, Board diversity has been considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience and qualifications, skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from time to time. High emphasis is placed on ensuring a balanced composition of skills and experience at the Board level in order to provide a range of perspectives, insights and challenges that enable the Board to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively, support good decision-making in view of the core businesses and strategy of the Group, and support succession planning and development of the Board. For achieving an optimal Board, additional measurable objectives/specific diversity targets may be set and reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness.

Selection of candidates will be based on the Company's Nomination Policy and will take into account this Board Diversity Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board and also the needs of the Board without focusing on a single diversity aspect.

The Board has set measurable objectives as to gender diversity and background of the Directors in terms of Board Diversity Policy that there should be at least one female Board member and at least one Board member who has professional qualifications or experience which are different than those required for running the principal business of the Company for giving a diversified insights to the Board. The Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion of female members over time when selecting and making recommendation on suitable candidates for Board appointments. The Board will ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders' expectations and international and local recommended best practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender parity. Although it has yet to be set as a measurable objective, the Board considers it will be desirable to have an appropriate proportion of Directors with direct experience in the Group's core markets from different backgrounds and in line with the Group's strategy. As at the end of the Year, the measurable objectives have been achieved.

The Board had reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and was of the view that the Board Diversity Policy and its implementation were sufficient and effective.

Board Diversity

The Company is conscious of maintaining Board diversity with an appropriate level of female members on the Board, which shall not be less than one female member as a measurable objective and may further increase in the next five years. As at 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprised four female Board members, in which case the Board considered the measurable objective of gender diversity has been achieved. While conscious efforts are being taken by the Company to fulfil its Board Diversity Policy, all appointments are ultimately made on a merit basis taking into account available and suitable candidates.

The Nominations Committee will review the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board for the Board's review and approval to ensure its continued appropriateness and effectiveness.

For recruiting potential successors to the Board to achieve Board diversity including gender diversity, the Board has prepared a list of desirable skills, experience, qualifications, gender or perspectives which director candidates should have. If the Board determines that an additional or replacement Director is required, it will deploy multiple channels for identifying suitable director candidates, including referral from Directors, Shareholders, management, advisors of the Company and external executive search firms.

Workforce Diversity

The Group strictly adheres to fair and appropriate employment practices and labour standards. With an antidiscriminatory and equal-opportunity policy in place, the Group provides job applicants and employees with equal opportunities for employment and promotion, and prohibits all forms of discrimination on gender, religion, race, disability or age.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 1,069 staff members (including members of the senior management but excluding Directors). The gender composition of the staff members (including members of the senior management but excluding Directors) was approximately 41% male staff members and approximately 59% female staff members.

The Board considered that gender diversity of the workforce of the Group had been well maintained during the Year. As such, the plan and measurable objective for the Group in terms of gender diversity in the workforce is to maintain the balance of gender diversity in the foreseeable future.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, to oversee specific aspects of the Group's affairs. Each of the Board committees has its own terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and the CG Code relating to its authority and duties. All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties, including access to management or professional advice if considered necessary. The composition of each of the committees as at the date of this annual report is as follows:

	Audit	Remuneration	Nomination
Name of Director	Committee	Committee	Committee
Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny	Member	Member	Chairperson
Mr. Chan Shing Jee	Member	Chairperson	Member
Ms. Chan Tak Yi	Chairperson	Member	Member
Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina	Member	Member	Member

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four members, who are all independent non-executive Directors, and is delegated with the authority from the Board primarily to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditor, review the financial statements and provide material advice in respect of financial reporting, oversee the financial reporting process, internal controls, risk management systems and audit process of the Group and perform other duties and responsibilities assigned by the Board. The composition of the Audit Committee meets the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. Details of the authority and duties of the Audit Committee are set out in the Audit Committee's terms of reference which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The individual attendance record of each member at the Audit Committee meetings held during the Year is set out below:

Name of Director	Number of meetings attended/held during the Year
Ms. Chan Tak Yi (Chairperson)	4/4
Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny	4/4
Mr. Chan Shing Jee	4/4
Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina	4/4
Mr. Chan Ping Yim (retired upon the conclusion of the 2024 AGM)	2/2

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during the Year:

- reviewed and discussed the annual audited financial statements, annual results announcement and annual
 report for the year ended 31 December 2023, interim results announcement and interim report for the six
 months ended 30 June 2024, the related accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the report
 from the management on the Company's review of the risk management and internal control systems, and
 recommendation on the re-appointment of the external auditor;
- reviewed the annual audit plan of the external auditor including the nature and scope of the audit, the fee payable to them, their reporting obligations and their work plan; and
- reviewed the effectiveness and performance of the Company's financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems and internal audit plan.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the appointment of external auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises four members, who are all independent non-executive Directors, and is delegated with the authority from the Board to review and approve the management's remuneration proposals, make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of the Directors and senior management and ensure none of the Directors determine his/her own remuneration. Details of the authority and duties of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the Remuneration Committee's terms of reference which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The individual attendance record of each member at the Remuneration Committee meetings held during the Year is set out below:

Name of Director	Number of meetings attended/held during the Year
Mr. Chan Shing Jee (Chairperson)	3/3
Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny	3/3
Ms. Chan Tak Yi	3/3
Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina	3/3
Mr. Chan Ping Yim (retired upon the conclusion of the 2024 AGM)	2/2

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year:

- reviewed the Group's remuneration policy (the "Remuneration Policy");
- reviewed the remuneration of Directors and senior management; and
- made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of individual Directors and senior management.

Details of the Director's remuneration and the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration paid to the members of the senior management (excluding Directors) by band during the Year is set out below:

Missaala ay af

Remuneration band (HK\$)	person(s)
Nil to 1,000,000	4
1,000,001 to 1,500,000	1
1,500,001 to 2,000,000	1

The Remuneration Policy of Directors

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to the Group's success. To ensure the ability to attract and retain talents, the Group's Remuneration Policy for Directors is built upon the principles of providing equitable and market-competitive remuneration packages that support the performance culture and enable the achievement of strategic business goals. The Group's Remuneration Policy for Directors is, therefore, aiming at providing a competitive but not excessive remuneration package to the Directors.

The Directors' remuneration comprises fixed salary or service fee and variable components (such as bonus and share options), which is benchmarked against companies of comparable business or scale with reference to a mix of factors such as the prevailing market condition, the Company's performance and the qualifications, skills, experience and educational background of the Directors.

The Directors' remuneration will be reviewed annually and is subject to Shareholders' approval at the annual general meeting.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises four members, who are all independent non-executive Directors, and is delegated with the authority from the Board to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and select or make recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships. Details of the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee are set out in the Nomination Committee's terms of reference which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The individual attendance record of each member at the Nomination Committee meetings held during the Year is set out below:

Number of meetings attended/held Name of Director during the Year

Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny (Chairperson)

Mr. Chan Shing Jee

Ms. Chan Tak Yi

Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina

Mr. Chan Ping Yim (retired upon the conclusion of the 2024 AGM)

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year:

- reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;
- reviewed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;
- reviewed and considered the structure, size and composition of the Board; and
- considered the Directors to retire and to be reappointed at the 2024 AGM.

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy which sets out the approach and procedures the Board adopts for the nomination and selection of Directors of the Company, including the appointment of additional Directors, replacement of Directors, and re-election of Directors. The Nomination Committee has been delegated with the overall responsibility for implementation, monitoring and periodic review of the Nomination Policy, and the summary of which is set out below:

Nomination Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for the directorship, the following criteria would be considered by the Nomination Committee and the Board:

- the candidate's character and integrity;
- the candidate's qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience, and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company's business and corporate strategy;
- any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board;
- for independent non-executive Directors, whether the candidate would be considered independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;
- any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity;
- willingness and ability of the candidate to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company; and
- such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's business and succession plan and where applicable may be adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for nomination of Directors and succession planning.

Nomination Procedures

The Company has put in place the following Director nomination procedures:

Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

- If the Board determines that an additional or replacement Director is required, it will deploy multiple channels for identifying suitable Director candidates, including referral from Directors, Shareholders, management, advisors of the Company and external executive search firms.
- (ii) Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential candidates, the Nomination Committee will shortlist candidates for consideration by the Nomination Committee and/or the Board based on the selection criteria and such other factors that it considers appropriate. The Board has the final authority on determining suitable Director candidate for appointment.

Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

- (i) Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself/herself for re-election, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall consider and, if consider appropriate, recommend such retiring Director to stand for re-election at a general meeting. A circular containing the requisite information on such retiring Director will be sent to Shareholders prior to the general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.
- (ii) Any Shareholder of the Company who wishes to nominate a person to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting must lodge with the company secretary of the Company, (a) a written nomination of the candidate, (b) a written confirmation from such nominated candidate of his/her willingness to stand for election, and (c) biographical details of such nominated candidate as required under the Listing Rules. Particulars of the candidate so proposed will be sent to all Shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the "Dividend Policy"), the summary of which is set out below:

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, among other things, the following factors:

- (i) the general financial condition of the Group;
- (ii) capital and debt level of the Group;
- (iii) future cash requirements and availability for business operations, business strategies and future development needs;
- (iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group's lenders;
- (v) the general market conditions; and
- (vi) any other factors that the Board considers appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and the Articles. Any final dividends declared by the Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at an annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders such interim and/or special dividends as it considers to be justified by the profits of the Group.

Any declaration and/or payment of future dividends under the Dividend Policy are/is subject to the Board's determination that the same would be in the best interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole. The Board endeavours to strike a balance between the Shareholders' interests and prudent capital management with a sustainable Dividend Policy. The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and may exercise at its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary. The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there can be no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

Details of dividends are disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Mr. Chiu Wai Kwong as its company secretary. Mr. Chiu has confirmed that he has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the Year and has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The biography of Mr. Chiu is set out in the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management" in this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities for the Company's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the section headed "Independent Auditor's Report" in this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to the Company's auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2024 are analysed below:

	HK\$'000)
Audit services	2,140)
Non-audit services Advisory services	68	3

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements for each financial year, which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the Group and of the results and cash flows of the Group for that year and in compliance with relevant law and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and have prepared disclosure of the financial position of the Group with reasonable accuracy at any time.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group's risk management and internal control systems and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems through the Audit Committee on an annual basis. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and corporate roles in the Group's financial, operational, compliance, risk management and internal controls, while senior management designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal control systems, and provides reports to the Board and the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of these systems. However, systems and internal controls can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group's business objectives.

During the Year, the Group has conducted an annual review on the effectiveness and efficiency of the Group's risk management and internal control systems in relation to the financial, operational and compliance controls, and the results were summarised and discussed with the Audit Committee and the Board. Upon conducting annual review on risk management and internal control systems of the Group, the Audit Committee and the Board are satisfied with the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis. The Directors, through the Audit Committee, are kept informed of significant risks that may impact the Group's performance.

During the Year, the Board considered the risk management and internal control systems of the Group to be effective and adequate. The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience of the Group's accounting and financial reporting function.

The Group maintained effective risk management and internal controls in all material respects, and the Board was not aware of any significant or material defects in relation to the risk management and internal controls. The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and considered them effective and adequate.

Main features of the Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Group has adopted a risk management policy, the main objectives of which is to ensure sustainable business growth with stability and to promote a pro-active approach in reporting, evaluating and resolving risks associated with the business in order to guide decisions on risk related issues.

The specific objectives of the policy are:

- (i) to ensure that all the current and future material risk exposures of the Group are identified, assessed, quantified, appropriately mitigated, minimised and managed i.e. to ensure adequate systems for risk management;
- (ii) to establish a framework for the Group's risk management process and to ensure its implementation;
- (iii) to enable compliance with appropriate regulations, wherever applicable, through the adoption of best practices; and
- (iv) to assure business growth with financial stability.

Risk Assessment Process

Risk identification is based on discussions and interviews with senior management from different departments. Risks are preliminarily identified by senior management from the risk universe which is a collection of risks built on environmental analysis and external benchmarking that can impact the Group at the entity or specific business process level. Key risk factors are then identified by integrating the results of the discussions and interviews.

Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact and likelihood of identified key risk factors. These identified key risk factors are further assessed by a scale rating process by the senior management to evaluate their impact and likelihood.

Risk prioritisation is a mapping exercise. A risk map is used to prioritise the identified key risk factors according to their impact and likelihood.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group is aware of its obligation under relevant sections of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Law of Hong Kong) (the "SFO") and the Listing Rules. An inside information policy has been established to lay down guidelines on definition, compliance and reporting mechanism of inside information. All members of the Board, senior management, and staff who are likely to possess inside information are strictly bound by this policy. Staff who have access to inside information are required to keep such unpublished inside information confidential until relevant announcement is made. Failure to comply with such requirements may result in disciplinary actions.

Internal Audit Function

The Group has an internal audit function which is primarily responsible for developing various internal control manuals and procedures, and conducting reviews on the key operational processes and the related internal controls to ensure compliance with the Group's risk management and internal control policies and procedures. In addition, the Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems, covering all material controls such as financial, operational and compliance controls. The Board considered that the risk management and internal control systems of the Group for the Year were effective and adequate.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

General Meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide a good opportunity for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at such time and place to be determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general meeting.

The 2025 AGM is scheduled to be held on Monday, 26 May 2025. A circular and a notice of the 2025 AGM containing, among other matters, further information relating to the 2025 AGM will be sent or made available to the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles, the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the voting rights at general meetings on a one vote per share basis in the share capital of the Company. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at Shareholders' Meeting

If a Shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at a Shareholders' meeting, the Shareholder, who has satisfied the shareholding requirements set out in the above paragraph headed "Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting", may follow the same procedures by sending a written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong. The Shareholder should state his/her proposals in the written requisition and submit the written requisition as early as practicable to enable the company secretary of the Company to make necessary arrangement.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a Director

Details of the procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director are set out in the procedures for nomination of directors by Shareholders which are available on the website of the Company.

If a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person (the "**Proposed Candidate**") to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting of the Company, the following documents must be validly served to the Board or the company secretary of the Company at the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Workshop A, 25th Floor, Reason Group Tower, No. 403 Castle Peak Road — Kwai Chung, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong:

- (i) a written notice signed by the Shareholder(s), who is(are) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting, of his/ her(their) intention to propose the Proposed Candidate for election as a Director; and
- (ii) a written notice signed by the Proposed Candidate of his/her willingness to be elected as a Director.

As stipulated in Article 113 of the Articles, the period for lodgement of such notices required under such Article will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least seven days.

Procedure for Sending Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders are welcome to send enquiries to the Board by post to the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Workshop A, 25th Floor, Reason Group Tower, No. 403 Castle Peak Road — Kwai Chung, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong or via telephone at (852) 2750 0775.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors' understanding of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.

The Shareholders' Communication Policy

The Company has adopted a shareholders' communication policy (the "Shareholders' Communication Policy"), details of which are summarised below:

Shareholders' Meetings

- The annual general meetings and extraordinary general meetings of the Company are the primary communication forum between the Company and the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings physically or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at such meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend.
- Notices of the general meetings, related circulars and forms of proxy are provided within a prescribed time prior
 to the general meetings on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and sent or made available to
 the Shareholders in accordance with the requirements of the Articles and Listing Rules.
- The Directors, in particular, the chairperson of the Board committees or their delegates, appropriate senior executives and external auditor will attend the general meetings to answer the Shareholders' questions.
- The chairman of the general meetings will propose to vote on the resolutions (except resolutions which relate purely to procedural or administrative matters) by poll in accordance with the Articles. A scrutineer will be appointed for the vote-taking at the general meetings and the voting results will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company subsequent to the close of the general meetings.

Corporate Communications

- The Company will make available corporate communications of the Company, which include annual reports, interim reports, notices of Shareholders' meetings, listing documents, related circulars, and forms of proxy, on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, and send these corporate communications by electronic means to the Shareholders (where applicable). Shareholders can also request for printed copies of these corporate communications to be sent to the Shareholders by post free of charge.
- Shareholders are encouraged to provide their up-to-date contact details to the Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong in order to facilitate timely and effective communications.

Company's Website

- The website of the Company at "www.townray.com" provides the Shareholders with corporate information on the Group. It also provides information on the corporate governance of the Group and the compositions and functions of the Board and the committees of the Board.
- In addition to the "Investor Relations" section in which corporate communications of the Company are posted as soon as practicable following their release on the website of Stock Exchange, press releases and newsletters issued by the Company from time to time are also available on the website of the Company to facilitate communication between the Company, the Shareholders and investment community.
- Information on the website of the Company is updated on a regular basis.

Communication with the Company

Shareholders may raise questions, request publicly available information and provide comments and suggestions to the Directors and senior management of the Company. Such questions, requests, comments and suggestions can be addressed to the Company by post to the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Workshop A, 25th Floor, Reason Group Tower, No. 403 Castle Peak Road — Kwai Chung, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong, or by the following means:

Telephone number: (852) 2750 0775

Email address: enquiry@townray.com

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company's information to the extent such information is publicly available.

The Company highly values the view and comments of the Shareholders and relevant stakeholders to the Company and would invite the Shareholders and relevant stakeholders to communicate with the Company by employing the abovementioned means. In view of the above Shareholders' communication means and measures adopted by the Company, the Board is of the view that the Shareholders' Communication Policy implemented during the Year was sufficient and effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no change to the Memorandum of Association and the Articles, the latest version of which have been published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of electrothermic household appliances. Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OTHER DISCLOSURES

The business review of the Group for the Year, descriptions of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Company, further development of the Company's business and an analysis using financial key performance indicators are set out in the section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis" in this annual report. The business review forms part of this annual report.

GROUP REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 September 2017 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. The reorganisation was completed on 30 September 2019 in preparation for the Listing of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange, after which the Company became the holding company of the Group. For further information in relation to the reorganisation, please refer to the section headed "History, development and Reorganisation" in the Prospectus.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since 25 October 2019.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As the production of the Group mainly takes place in the PRC, the Group's business is subject to the relevant PRC national and local environmental laws and regulations, such as the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC. These laws and regulations govern a broad range of environmental matters, including discharge of wastewater and disposal of hazardous wastes. A summary of the environmental protection laws and regulations applicable to the Group is set out in the section headed "Regulatory Overview" in the Prospectus. The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the Group in all material aspects has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

There was no material breach or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's five largest customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 69.6% of the total revenue of the Group and the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately 24.6% of the total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for less than 30% of the total purchases of materials of the Group.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the Group's financial position as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK16.1 cents per ordinary share, totaling approximately HK\$57.8 million in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024, to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members (the "**Register of Members**") of the Company at the close of business on Monday, 2 June 2025 as the record date. This proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the 2025 AGM, and if approved, is expected to be paid on or before Wednesday, 11 June 2025.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out on page 126 in this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

Details of the use of Net Proceeds are set out on page 13 in this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2025 AGM is scheduled to be held on Monday, 26 May 2025. A notice convening the 2025 AGM will be issued and despatched to the Shareholders according to the applicable law, the Articles and the Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the identity of the Shareholders who will be entitled to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, the Register of Members will be closed from Wednesday, 21 May 2025 to Monday, 26 May 2025, both dates inclusive, the period during which no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, all completed share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 20 May 2025.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the 2025 AGM for payment of the final dividend, to ascertain the entitlement of the Shareholders to the final dividend, the Register of Members will be closed from Friday, 30 May 2025 to Monday, 2 June 2025, both dates inclusive, the period during which no transfer of shares will be effected. The final dividend, if approved at the 2025 AGM, is expected to be paid on or before Wednesday, 11 June 2025 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members on Monday, 2 June 2025. In order to qualify for receiving the final dividend, all completed share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at the above address, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 29 May 2025.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

Charitable contributions made by the Group during the Year amounted to approximately HK\$1.1 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the authorised share capital and issued share capital of the Company during the Year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme at the annual general meeting held on the Adoption Date (i.e. 25 May 2023). No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled, or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since the Adoption Date and up to the date of this annual report.

A summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme is set out below:

Summary of the Principal Terms of the Share Option Scheme

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options under the Share Option Scheme (the "Option(s)") to the Eligible Participants (as defined below) as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.

(b) Who may join

Eligible participants (the "Eligible Participants") under the Share Option Scheme include:

- (i) the employee participants, who are the Director(s) (excluding independent non-executive Directors) and employee(s) (whether full time or part time) of the Group (including persons who are granted Options under the Share Option Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment contracts with any member of the Group);
- (ii) the director(s) and employee(s) of the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company; and
- (iii) person(s) who provide services to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interests of the long-term growth of the Group (the "Service Providers").

The eligibility of, and the terms of grant of Options to each of the Eligible Participants to an offer shall be determined by the Board from time to time on the basis of the Board's opinion as to his/her experience in the business of the Group, the length of his/her service with the Group, his/her contribution to the development and long-term growth of the Group and other factors as the Board may at its discretion consider appropriate. When considering eligibility of, and the terms of grant of Options to any Service Provider and whether such Service Provider provides services to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis in the ordinary and usual course of business, the Board shall generally consider all relevant factors as appropriate from time to time, including (i) the industry experience of the Service Provider; (ii) the type(s) of services that the Service Provider had provided to the Group; (iii) the period of engagement of the Service Provider; (iv) the contribution and/or future contribution of the Service Provider to the development and long-term growth of the Group.

(c) Maximum number of Options to be granted

The total number of the Company's shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all Options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share scheme(s) of the Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 10.0% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as of the Adoption Date (the "**Scheme Mandate Limit**") unless the Company obtains an approval from the Shareholders. The Options which are cancelled or lapsed in accordance with the rules of the Share Option Scheme and any other share scheme(s) of the Company shall be regarded as utilised for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. As at 31 December 2024, the Scheme Mandate Limit was 35,900,000 shares.

The Company may seek approval of its Shareholders in a general meeting to refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit and service provider sublimit (the "Service Provider Sublimit") after three years from the approval of the Shareholders for the Adoption Date or the last refreshment.

Any refreshment within any three-year period must be approved by Shareholders of the issuer subject to:

- (i) any controlling shareholders and their associates (or if there is no controlling shareholder, Directors (excluding independent non-executive Directors) and the chief executive of the Company and their respective associates) must abstain from voting in favour of the relevant resolution at the general meeting; and
- (ii) the Company must comply with the requirements under the Listing Rules.

The Service Provider Sublimit under the Share Option Scheme was 1.0% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as of the Adoption Date, which was 3,590,000 shares.

As at 1 January 2024, 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the total number of shares of the Company which may be alloted and issued upon exercise of all Options available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit was all 35,900,000 shares, representing approximately 10.0% of the total number of the Company's shares in issue as at 1 January 2024, 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, respectively. The Service Provider Sublimit was both 1.0% of the total number of the Company's shares in issue, i.e., 3,590,000 shares as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, respectively. From the Adoption Date and up to 31 December 2024, no Options were granted under the Share Option Scheme and there were no outstanding Options.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant

The total number of issued shares of the Company and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the Options and the options or awards granted under any other share scheme(s) of the Company (including both exercised or outstanding options but excluding any options and awards lapsed in accordance with Scheme Rules) to each grantee (the "Grantee") in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being ("1% Individual Limit"). Where any further grant of Options to a Grantee under the Share Option Scheme would result in the Company's shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options and awards granted and proposed to be granted to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options but excluding any options and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the scheme) under the Share Option Scheme and any other share scheme(s) of the Company in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding the 1% Individual Limit, such further grant must be separately approved by Shareholders in a general meeting with such Grantee and his/her close associates (or his/her associates if the participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting. The number and terms of the options to be further granted to such Grantee must be fixed before Shareholders' approval.

(e) Grant of Options to core connected persons

- (i) Without prejudice to (ii) below, the making of an offer under the Share Option Scheme to any Director, chief executive or substantial Shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates must be approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the Grantee of an Option under the Share Option Scheme).
- (ii) Without prejudice to (i) above, where any grant of Options under the Share Option Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or any of their respective associates, would result in the Company's shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options under the Share Option Scheme already granted and to be granted (including Options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the share in issue, such further grant of Options must be approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting. The Grantee, his/her associates and all core connected persons of the Company must abstain from voting in favour at such general meeting.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of the Shareholders under paragraphs (c), (d) and (e) above, the Company must send a circular to the Shareholders containing the information required under the Listing Rules and where the Listing Rules shall so require, the vote at the general meeting convened to obtain the requisite approval shall be taken on a poll with those persons required under the Listing Rules abstaining from voting.

(f) Time of acceptance and exercise of an Option

An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open for acceptance by the Eligible Participants concerned (and by no other person) for a period of up to 21 days from the date, which must be a business day, on which the offer is made.

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to the Grantee thereof, and in the absence of such determination, from the date of acceptance of the offer of such Option to the date falling ten years from the grant date of that Option. There was no prescribed vesting period for which an Option must be held before it can be vested under the Share Option Scheme, subject to the conditions of grant to be determined by the Board and a general vesting period of 12 months from the date of grant.

An offer shall have been accepted by an Eligible Participant in respect of all the Company's shares which are offered to such Eligible Participant when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the Eligible Participant together with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK\$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the Company within such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from the grant date). Such remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable.

(g) Exercise price for Options

The exercise price in respect of any Options shall, subject to the adjustments, be at the discretion of the Directors, provided that it shall not be less than the highest of:

- the closing price of the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of the shares on the grant date, which must be a business day;
- (ii) the average closing price of the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the grant date; and
- (iii) the nominal value of a Company's share.

(h) Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing from the Adoption Date (i.e. until 24 May 2033).

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding the Company's securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities (including sales of treasury shares) during the Year.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(i) Directors' and chief executive's interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures

As at 31 December 2024, interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or (c) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Name of Director/ chief executive	Capacity/nature of interest	Number of ordinary shares of the Company held (Note 1)	Approximate percentage of shareholding
Dr. Chan	Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2)	213,640,000 (L)	59.51%
	Interest of spouse (Note 3)	6,806,000 (L)	1.90%
Ms. Cheng	Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2)	213,640,000 (L)	59.51%
	Beneficial owner	6,806,000 (L)	1.90%
Mr. Chan	Beneficial owner	5,000,000 (L)	1.39%
Mr. Chiu	Beneficial owner	5,000,000 (L)	1.39%
Ms. Tang	Beneficial owner	5,000,000 (L)	1.39%
Dr. Yu	Beneficial owner	5,000,000 (L)	1.39%

Notes:

- 1. The letter "L" denotes a person's "long position" (as defined under Part XV of the SFO) in such shares.
- 213,640,000 shares of the Company are owned by Modern Expression Limited ("Modern Expression"), which is wholly owned by Dr.
 Chan and Ms. Cheng jointly. Under the SFO, each of Dr. Chan and Ms. Cheng is deemed to be interested in all the shares owned by
 Modern Expression.
- Ms. Cheng is the spouse of Dr. Chan. Under the SFO, Dr. Chan is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Ms. Cheng is interested.

(ii) Interest in associated corporations of the Company

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company's associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

	Name of associated		Number of ordinary shares held in associated corporation	Approximate percentage of shareholding in associated
Name of Director	corporation	Capacity/nature	(Note 1)	corporation
Dr. Chan	Modern Expression	Interest held jointly with another person (Note 2)	1 (L)	100%
Ms. Cheng	Modern Expression	Interest held jointly with another person (Note 2)	1 (L)	100%

Notes:

- 1. The letter "L" denotes a person's/corporation's "long position" (as defined under Part XV of the SFO) in such shares.
- 2. Modern Expression is wholly owned by Dr. Chan and Ms. Cheng jointly. Dr. Chan and Ms. Cheng are spouses.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the register referred to therein; or (c) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

(iii) Substantial Shareholders' and other persons' interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had or deemed or taken to have an interest and/or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company which were required to be recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

		Number of ordinary shares	Approximate
Person/corporation	Capacity/nature of interest	of the Company held (Note 1)	percentage of shareholding in the Company
Madawa Evanassian	Develoid over	010 040 000 (1)	EO E10/
Modern Expression	Beneficial owner	213,640,000 (L)	59.51%
Capital Fortress Limited ("Capital Fortress")	Beneficial owner	29,000,000 (L)	8.08%
Mr. Leung Yat Cheong Albert	Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2)	29,000,000 (L)	8.08%
(" Mr. Leung ") Ms. Chan Ying Yuk Purple	Interest of spouse (Note 3)	29,000,000 (L)	8.08%
("Ms. Chan")			0.000/
Bestresult Assets Limited ("Bestresult Assets")	Beneficial owner	22,360,000 (L)	6.23%
Ms. Li Siu Lan (" Ms. Li ")	Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 4)	22,360,000 (L)	6.23%
Mr. Lo Kam Wing Raymond (" Mr. Lo ")	Interest of spouse (Note 5)	22,360,000 (L)	6.23%

Notes:

- 1. The letter "L" denotes a person's/corporation's "long position" (as defined under Part XV of the SFO) in such shares.
- Capital Fortress is wholly owned by Mr. Leung. Under the SFO, Mr. Leung is deemed to be interested in all the shares owned by Capital Fortress.
- Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Leung. Under the SFO, Ms. Chan is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Mr. Leung is interested.
- Bestresult Assets is wholly owned by Ms. Li. Under the SFO, Ms. Li is deemed to be interested in all the shares owned by Bestresult
 Assets.
- 5. Mr. Lo is the spouse of Ms. Li. Under the SFO, Mr. Lo is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Ms. Li is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors were not aware of any other persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) who had or deemed or taken to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, in the opinion of the Directors, the reserves of the Company available for distribution to Shareholders under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands amounted to approximately HK\$147.2 million.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the Year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, none of the Directors or their close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) has any interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The controlling Shareholders, namely Dr. Chan Kam Kwong Charles, Ms. Cheng Yuk Sim Connie and Modern Expression (collectively, the "Controlling Shareholder(s)") had entered into the deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 3 October 2019 (the "Non-competition Undertaking"). Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed that he/she/it had complied with the Non-Competition Undertaking during the Year and the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed that state of compliance of each of the Controlling Shareholders with the Non-competition Undertaking and as far as the independent non-executive Directors can ascertain, there has been no breach of the undertakings given in the Non-competition Undertaking by the Controlling Shareholders during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wai Ming (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chiu Wai Kwong

Ms. Tang Mei Wah

Dr. Yu Kwok Wai

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chan Kam Kwong Charles (Chairman)

Ms. Cheng Yuk Sim Connie

(also known as Ms. Cheng Yuk Yee Connie)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny

Mr. Chan Shing Jee

Ms. Chan Tak Yi

Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting. As such, Dr. Chan Kam Kwong Charles and Ms. Cheng Yuk Sim Connie, the non-executive Directors, and Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny and Mr. Chan Shing Jee, the independent non-executive Directors, shall retire at the 2025 AGM and shall be eligible to offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered all of its independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence criteria as set out under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the business of the Group to which the Company, its holding Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his/her connected entities or a controlling shareholder of the Company (having the meaning ascribed under the Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from the Listing Date. The term of service shall be renewed and extended automatically by three years on the expiry of such initial term and on the expiry of every successive period of three years thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto giving at least six months' written notice before the expiry of the then existing term.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from the Listing Date, except for Ms. Chan Tak Yi and Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina, who entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 21 December 2023. The term of service shall be renewed and extended automatically by one year on the expiry of such initial term and on the expiry of every successive period of one year thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto giving at least two months' written notice before the expiry of the then existing term.

There is no director's service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiary which is not determinable by the Company or its subsidiary within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation) as at 31 December 2024.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the Year are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors and senior management receive compensation in the form of salaries and discretionary bonuses related to their performance. The Group also reimburses them for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably incurred in relation to all business and affairs carried out by the Group from time to time or for providing services to the Group or executing their functions in relation to the Group's business and operations. The Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration and compensation package of the Directors and senior management by reference to, among other things, market level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group. The Directors and senior management may also receive Options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out in the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management" in this annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution mandatory provident fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme") under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees' basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operates in Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The total retirement benefit scheme contributions made by the Group amounted to approximately HK\$16.9 million for the Year. There was no forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme and other retirement benefit schemes which may be used by the Group to reduce the contribution during the Year and payable in the future years.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the Year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 10 May 2024, the Group entered into the following tenancy agreements which constituted connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(i) Tenancy Agreement I

Town Ray Electrical (Huizhou) Limited ("Town Ray (Huizhou)"), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant entered into the tenancy agreement (the "Tenancy Agreement I") with Tunbow Electrical (Huizhou) Limited* (東保利電業(惠州)有限公司) ("Tunbow (Huizhou)"), a connected person of the Company, as landlord in relation to the leasing of the Dunzilipian (Jiangbei 84) Community, Qingtang Village, Xiaojinkou Town, Huicheng District, Huizhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC, with a total gross floor area of 85,036.10 square metres (the "Property I"), for renewing the existing tenancy agreement in respect of the same premises entered into by the same parties (the "Property I Existing Tenancy Agreement") which was expired on 31 December 2024, and the leasing of the Dunzilipian (Jiangbei 85) Community, Qingtang Village, Xiaojinkou Town, Huicheng District, Huizhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC, with a total gross floor area of 5,171.01 square metres (the "Property II") for a term of three years from 1 January 2025 to 31 December 2027 at an aggregate monthly rent of RMB1,172,692.43;

(ii) Tenancy Agreement II

Town Ray (Huizhou), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant entered into the tenancy agreement (the "**Tenancy Agreement II**") with Tunbow (Huizhou) as landlord in relation to the leasing of Property II for a term of six months from 1 July 2024 to 31 December 2024 at a monthly rent of RMB67,223.13; and

(iii) Tenancy Agreement III

Town Ray (Huizhou), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant entered into the tenancy agreement (the "**Tenancy Agreement III"**) with Tunbow Electronics (Huizhou) Limited * (東保達電子(惠州)有限公司) ("**Tunbow Electronics (Huizhou)**"), a connected person of the Company, as landlord in relation to the leasing of the Dunzilipian (Jiangbei 85) Community, Qingtang Village, Xiaojinkou Town, Huicheng District, Huizhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC, with a total gross floor area of 15,581.76 square metres (the "**Property III**") for a term of three years and six months from 1 July 2024 to 31 December 2027 at a monthly rent of RMB202,562.88.

The Property I, II and III are currently used for the production warehouse, manufacturing plant and related operation, dormitory, factory facilities and ancillary office of the Group.

Tunbow (Huizhou), the landlord under the Tenancy Agreement I and Tenancy Agreement II, is a company established in Huizhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC with limited liability on 5 December 2005 and principally engages in the business of properties holding. Tunbow (Huizhou) is wholly owned by Tunbow Electrical (BVI) Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Tunbow Investments (BVI) Limited is owned as to approximately 78.23% by Modern Expression, which is in turn wholly owned by Dr. Chan and Ms. Cheng (both being non-executive Directors) jointly. Therefore, Tunbow (Huizhou) is an associate of Dr. Chan and Ms. Cheng, and is a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing Rules.

^{*} denotes unofficial name for identification only

Tunbow Electronics (Huizhou), the landlord under the Tenancy Agreement III, is a company established in Huizhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC with limited liability on 5 December 2005 and principally engages in the business of properties holding. Tunbow Electronics (Huizhou) is wholly owned by Tunbow Electronics (BVI) Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Tunbow Investments (BVI) Limited. Tunbow Investments (BVI) Limited is owned as to approximately 78.23% by Modern Expression, which is in turn wholly owned by Dr. Chan and Ms. Cheng (both being non-executive Directors) jointly. Therefore, Tunbow Electronics (Huizhou) is an associate of Dr. Chan and Ms. Cheng, and is a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing Rules.

In accordance with HKFRS 16 "Leases", the Group was required to recognise right-of-use assets from the commencement date of the Tenancy Agreement I, Tenancy Agreement II and Tenancy Agreement III (the "**Tenancy Agreements**") in its consolidated statement of financial position. Hence, the Tenancy Agreements and the transactions contemplated thereunder were regarded as acquisitions of right-of-use assets from the commencement date of the Tenancy Agreements by the Group, which were aggregated under Rule 14.22 of the Listing Rules as if one transaction, and after aggregation, constituted a discloseable transaction for the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and a connected transaction for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The total consideration of the connected transactions under the Tenancy Agreements was approximately HK\$56.4 million, which was calculated with reference to the aggregate rental payments and discounted by a discount rate. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10 May 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 28 May 2024.

The Tenancy Agreements and the transactions contemplated thereunder were approved by the independent Shareholders at the 2024 AGM.

The Property I Existing Tenancy Agreement was entered into on 30 September 2021 between Tunbow (Huizhou) as landlord and Town Ray (Huizhou) as tenant over the Property I at a monthly rent of RMB1,020,433.20 for a term of three years commenced from 1 January 2022 and expired on 31 December 2024 for the production and related operations of the Group. The transactions contemplated under the Property I Existing Tenancy Agreement constituted a discloseable transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and a connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules at the time when it was entered into, subject to reporting, announcement, circular and independent Shareholders' approval requirements. The Property I Existing Tenancy Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder were approved by the independent Shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting on 8 December 2021. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30 September 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 18 November 2021. Immediately upon the expiry of the Property I Existing Tenancy Agreement, it will be renewed and replaced by the Tenancy Agreement I commencing from 1 January 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not enter into any other non-exempted connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, which required reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders' approval requirements under the Listing Rules, during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the Year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements which are connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed above in the paragraph headed "Connected Transactions" above in this annual report, none of the related party transactions constitute non-fully exempted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions, which required reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders' approval requirements under the Listing Rules. In relation to the Company's connected transactions or continuing connected transactions, the Company has complied with the relevant requirements (including applicable disclosure) in accordance with the Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the section headed "Corporate Governance Report" in this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of at least 25% of the issued share capital of the Company under the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company's Articles provides that every Director is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto provided that such indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or dishonesty which may attach to the Director.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors' and officers' liabilities in respect of potential legal actions against the Directors and officers arising out of corporate activities during the Year.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT AND POLICY

For details of the environmental, social and governance performance of the Group during the Year and the status of compliance of the relevant environmental law of the Group during the Year, please refer to the environmental, social and governance report for the Year, which will be published by the Company according to the requirements under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Except for the paragraph headed "Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets" above in this annual report, the Group had no material events for disclosure subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, will retire at the 2025 AGM and a resolution for its re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 3 October 2019 with specific written terms of reference which clearly sets out with its authority and duties.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for (i) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditor; (ii) reviewing the financial statements and providing material advice in respect of financial reporting; (iii) overseeing the financial reporting process, internal controls, risk management systems and audit process of the Group; and (iv) overseeing the Company's continuing connected transactions. Details of the authority and duties of the Audit Committee are set out in the Audit Committee's terms of reference, which is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chan Tak Yi (Chairperson), Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny, Mr. Chan Shing Jee and Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina. The composition of the Audit Committee meets the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

On behalf of the Board

Town Ray Holdings Limited

Chan Kam Kwong Charles

Chairman and non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 17 March 2025



Independent auditor's report

To the shareholders of Town Ray Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Town Ray Holdings Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (the "Group") set out on pages 62 to 125, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's *Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants* (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the *Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements* section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade receivables was HK\$132.1 million which represented 24% of the Group's total assets. Assessment of expected credit losses ("ECLs") of trade receivables is performed by management based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

The assessment is significant to our audit due to (i) the significance of the carrying amount; and (ii) significant estimates involved in determining the future cash flows that the Group expects to receive from such receivables based on, among others, the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions (i.e. gross domestic product) and ECLs.

The Group's accounting policies, disclosures of accounting estimates on the provision for ECLs on trade receivables and information about the ECLs on trade receivables are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

We assessed management's assessment by (i) checking the ageing of the receivable balances, past repayment history and historical credit loss experience against the relevant sales documents and settlement records on a sample basis; (ii) benchmarking the forecast economic conditions (i.e. gross domestic product) against market data; and (iii) reviewing the arithmetic accuracy of the calculation of the ECLs.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
 information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
 consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
 performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Wong Tsz Tat.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants 27/F, One Taikoo Place 979 King's Road Quarry Bay, Hong Kong 17 March 2025

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

	Notes	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
REVENUE	5	703,593	704,417
Cost of sales	_	(471,844)	(459,042)
Gross profit		231,749	245,375
Other income and gain, net Selling and distribution expenses General and administrative expenses Other expenses, net Finance costs	5	18,657 (15,588) (98,832) (3,257) (2,312)	14,471 (17,213) (93,965) 679 (2,587)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX	7	130,417	146,760
Income tax expense	10	(22,807)	(24,554)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR	, (i) .	107,610	122,206
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY	12		
Basic and diluted	-	HK29.97 cents	HK34.04 cents

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR	107,610	122,206
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS		
Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:		
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations	(3,547)	(4,317)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR	104,063	117,889

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2024

	Notes	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
	110163	11/4 000	ΠΨ 000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS			
Property, plant and equipment	13	85,256	78,130
Investment property	14	2,200	-
Right-of-use assets	15(a)	116,009	70,648
Deposits paid for purchases of items of property,			•
plant and equipment		11,259	1,970
Prepayments	18	206	212
Deferred tax assets	23	3,337	2,364
Total non-current assets	_	218,267	153,324
CURRENT ASSETS			
Inventories	16	100,128	60,100
Trade receivables	17	132,069	67,040
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables	18	27,125	9,016
Tax recoverable		153	61
Pledged deposits	19	820	88
Cash and cash equivalents	19	75,894	187,719
Total current assets	_	336,189	324,024
CURRENT LIABILITIES			
Trade payables	20	58,454	42,855
Other payables and accruals	21	49,411	43,531
Interest-bearing bank borrowings	22	39,975	21,386
Lease liabilities	15(b)	16,168	12,501
Tax payable	_	1,604	8,898
Total current liabilities	_	165,612	129,171
NET CURRENT ASSETS	_	170,577	194,853
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES	_	388,844	348,177
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES			
Accrual	21	220	412
Lease liabilities	15(b)	31,583	_
Deferred tax liabilities	23	1,999	3,087
Total non-current liabilities	<u> </u>	33,802	3,499
Net assets		355,042	344,678

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2024

	Notes	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
EQUITY			
Issued capital	24	3,590	3,590
Reserves	25	351,452	341,088
Total equity		355,042	344,678

Chan Wai Ming
Director

Chiu Wai Kwong

Director

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

	Note	Issued capital HK\$'000	Share premium account HK\$'000	Merger reserve HK\$'000 (note 25(a))	Capital contribution reserve HK\$'000 (note 25(b))	Share- based payment reserve HK\$'000 (note 25(c))	Statutory reserve funds HK\$'000 (note 25(d))	Exchange fluctuation reserve HK\$'000	Retained profits HK\$'000	Total equity HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023		3,590	73,524	10,000	63,000	10,050	14,695	(12,304)	187,371	349,926
Profit for the year Other comprehensive loss for the year: Exchange differences on translation of		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	122,206	122,206
foreign operations			-	-	_			(4,317)	_	(4,317)
Total comprehensive income for the year			-			_	-	(4,317)	122,206	117,889
Final 2022 dividend Interim 2023 dividend	11 11	- -	- -	- -	- -	-	- -	-	(69,287) (53,850)	(69,287) (53,850)
At 31 December 2023 and at 1 January 2024		3,590	73,524	10,000	63,000	10,050	14,695	(16,621)	186,440	344,678
Profit for the year Other comprehensive loss for the year: Exchange differences on translation of		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	107,610	107,610
foreign operations			-	_	-	-	-	(3,547)	-	(3,547)
Total comprehensive income for the year			-	-	-	-	-	(3,547)	107,610	104,063
Final 2023 dividend Interim 2024 dividend	11 11	-	-	-	-	-	-	- -	(54,209) (39,490)	(54,209) (39,490)
At 31 December 2024		3,590	73,524*	10,000*	63,000*	10,050*	14,695*	(20,168)*	200,351*	355,042

^{*} These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK\$351,452,000 (2023: HK\$341,088,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

	Notes	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES			
Profit before tax		130,417	146,760
Adjustments for:		ŕ	
Interest income	5	(4,743)	(6,132)
Finance costs	6	2,312	2,587
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	7	14,260	14,322
Depreciation of right-of-use assets	7	16,782	14,413
Fair value loss of an investment property	7	11	_
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net	7	3,204	(694)
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, net Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of inventories to net realisable	7	42	15
value	7 _	(7,069)	14,913
		155,216	186,184
Decrease/(increase) in inventories		(35,924)	67,529
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables		(68,233)	31,706
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and other receivables		(18,550)	7,813
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables		16,767	(35,951)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals	_	6,024	(33,403)
Cash generated from operations		55,300	223,878
Hong Kong profits tax paid		(17,901)	(11,793)
Overseas tax paid	_	(14,289)	(15,389)
Net cash flows from operating activities	<u> </u>	23,110	196,696
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES			
Interest received		4,743	6,132
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment Decrease/(increase) in deposits paid for purchases of items of property,		(22,704)	(13,567)
plant and equipment		(9,440)	1,949
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment		30	82
Purchase of an investment property		(2,211)	_
Additions to right-of-use assets		(13,101)	_
Placement of pledged deposits		(2,212)	(1,512)
Withdrawal of pledged deposits	_	1,467	1,510
Net cash flows used in investing activities		(43,428)	(5,406)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

		2024	2023
	Notes	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES			
New bank borrowings	26(b)	71,952	4,477
Repayment of bank borrowings	26(b)	(53,363)	(18,846)
Principal portion of lease payments	26(b)	(13,777)	(11,907)
Dividends paid		(93,699)	(123,137)
Interest paid	<u> </u>	(2,312)	(2,587)
Net cash flows used in financing activities	_	(91,199)	(152,000)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		(111,517)	39,290
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year		187,719	148,920
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net		(308)	(491)
	_		
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR	_	75,894	187,719
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS			
Cash and bank balances		75,894	52,013
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of less than		,	=,:.0
three months when acquired		-	135,706
	_	75,894	187,719

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Town Ray Holdings Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is located at Workshop A, 25th Floor, Reason Group Tower, No. 403 Castle Peak Road – Kwai Chung, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") were principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of electrothermic household appliances.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company is Modern Expression Limited ("Modern Expression"), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

	Place of incorporation/	Issued ordinary/	Percenta of equi attributab	ity	
	registration	registered	the Comp		Principal
Name	and business	share capital	2024	2023	activities
Tunbow Group Limited	Hong Kong	HK\$10,000,000	100	100	Trading of electrothermic household appliances
登輝電器(惠州)有限公司*	People's Republic of China ("PRC")/ Mainland China	HK\$30,000,000	100	100	Manufacture and sale of electrothermic household appliances
Kwun Tong 1008 Properties Limited	Hong Kong	HK\$1	100	100	Holding of property
Leighton 2338 Properties Limited	Hong Kong	HK\$1	100	100	Holding of properties
Leighton 2348 Properties Limited	Hong Kong	HK\$1	100	100	Holding of properties
RGT 1238 Properties Limited	Hong Kong	HK\$1	100	_	Holding of properties

^{*} This subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.

The above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for an investment property which has been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK\$") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

- (a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
- (b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
- (c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

(the "2020 Amendments")

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

(the "2022 Amendments")

Supplier Finance Arrangements

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described below:

- (a) Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.
- (b) The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-current remained unchanged upon initial application of the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

(c) Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity's liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did not have any impact on the Group's financial statements.

31 December 2024

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these new and revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

Annual Improvements to HKFRS

Accounting Standards - Volume 11

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements³

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures³

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial

Instruments²

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity²

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture4

Lack of Exchangeability¹

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 72

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

- ² Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
- Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
- ⁴ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While a number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations and to present two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and the location of information in both the primary financial statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10 *Consolidated Financial Statements*, cannot have public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements available for public use which comply with HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company's subsidiaries are considering the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.

31 December 2024

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments clarify the date on which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through an electronic payment system before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social and governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse features and contractually linked instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures for investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial application date. Prior periods are not required to be restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments at the same time or only the amendments related to the classification of financial assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity only apply to contracts that reference nature-dependent electricity and clarify the application of the 'own-use' requirements for in-scope contracts. The amendments to HKFRS 9 will now allow an entity designating a contract referencing nature-dependent electricity as the hedging instrument in a hedge of forecast electricity transactions, to designate a variable nominal amount of forecast electricity transactions as the hedged item. HKFRS 7 has been amended to require disclosures relating to contracts that have been excluded from the scope of HKFRS 9 as a result of the amendments. In such cases, an entity must disclose in a single note:

- Information about the contractual features that expose the entity to variability in an underlying amount of
 electricity and the risk that the entity would be required to buy electricity during a delivery interval where it
 cannot use it.
- Information about unrecognised contractual commitments arising from such contracts.
- Qualitative and quantitative information about the effects on the entity's financial performance for the reporting period interval where it cannot use it.

The HKFRS 7 disclosure amendments must be applied when the HKFRS 9 amendments are applied. The clarifications regarding the 'own-use' requirements must be applied retrospectively without using hindsight, but the guidance permits hedge accounting to be applied prospectively to new hedging relationships designated on or after the date of initial application. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

31 December 2024

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards – Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

- HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
- HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
- HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments clarify that the relationship described
 in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various relationships that might exist between the
 investor and other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor, which removes the inconsistency with
 the requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
 expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
- HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace the term "cost method" with "at cost" in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of "cost method". Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group's financial statements.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment property at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

- Level 1 based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
- Level 2 based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly
- Level 3 based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment property), the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

- (a) the party is a person or a close member of that person's family and that person
 - (i) has control or joint control over the Group;
 - (ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
 - (iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

- (b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
 - (i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;
 - (ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);
 - (iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;
 - (iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
 - (v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group;
 - (vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);
 - (vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and
 - (viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 4%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 20%

Plant and machinery 9%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 18% to 20% Moulds 18% to 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component and non-lease components, the Group adopts the practical expedient not to separate non-lease components and to account for the lease component and the associated non-lease components as a single lease component.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including insubstance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment that are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised in the period in which they are earned.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for "Revenue recognition" below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when:

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
- the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through" arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information. The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

- Stage 1 Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs
- Stage 2 Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
- Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

- when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and
- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

- when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
 recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
 transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
 taxable and deductible temporary differences; and
- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax
 assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
 foreseeable future and future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be
 utilised.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to be that which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Sale of electrothermic household appliances and tooling Revenue from the sale of electrothermic household appliances and tooling is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the electrothermic household appliances and acceptance of the tooling.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Consultancy income is recognised over time as consultancy services are rendered.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories and property, plant and equipment, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

- (a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can specifically identify.
- (b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in the future.
- (c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme") under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees' basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information affects the amounts that it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light of the new information. For non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company's memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

31 December 2024

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Income taxes

The Group has exposure to income taxes in different jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in determining the provision for income taxes. Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on the future tax treatment of certain transactions and interpretation of tax rules. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes in tax legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

31 December 2024

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm's length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the electrothermic household appliance manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a customer's actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amounts of inventories with reference to aged analyses of the Group's inventories, projections of expected future saleability of goods and management experience and judgement. Based on this review, write-down of inventories will be made when the estimated net realisable value of inventories declines below their carrying amount. Due to changes in technological, market and economic environment and customers' preference, actual saleability of goods may be different from estimation and profit or loss could be affected by differences in this estimation. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of inventories was HK\$100,128,000 (2023: HK\$60,100,000).

31 December 2024

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of electrothermic household appliances. Information reported to the Group's chief operating decision maker for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment is focused on the operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group's resources are integrated and no discrete operating segment financial information is available. Accordingly, no operating segment information is presented.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

2024	2023
HK\$'000	HK\$'000
617,270	617,319
64,826	70,727
11,114	13,069
10,383	3,302
703,593	704,417
	617,270 64,826 11,114 10,383

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Hong Kong	100,243	81,844
Mainland China	114,687	69,116
Total non-current assets	214,930	150,960

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue from external customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows:

		2024 2000	2023 HK\$'000
Customer A	173	,238	N/A*
Customer B		,102	243,544
Customer C	87	,730	79,492

^{*} Less than 10% of revenue

31 December 2024

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN, NET

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
	700 500	704 447
venue from contracts with customers	703,593	704,417
venue from contracts with customers		
Disaggregated revenue information		
	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Types of goods		
Sale of electrothermic household appliances	703,058	695,388
Sale of tooling	535	9,029
Total	703,593	704,417
Timing of revenue recognition		
Goods transferred at a point in time	703,593	704,417
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in	n the current reporting	period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting	period:	
	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000

31 December 2024

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN, NET (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations

Information about the Group's performance obligations is summarised below:

Sale of electrothermic household appliances

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the electrothermic household appliances and payment is generally due within 30 to 120 days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally required.

Sale of tooling

The performance obligation is satisfied upon transfer of control of the tooling and payment is generally due upon achievement of milestone and customer acceptance.

As a practical expedient, the transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are not disclosed in the notes to the financial statements because all the remaining performance obligations in relation to the sale of goods are a part of contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less.

An analysis of other income and gain, net is as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Bank interest income	4,743	6,132
Consultancy income	6,465	4,381
Gross rental income	92	_
Government subsidies*	1,004	135
Foreign exchange differences, net	5,240	2,720
Others	1,113	1,103
Total	18,657	14,471

^{*} There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these subsidies.

6. FINANCE COSTS

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Interest on bank loans	1,614	1,546
Interest on lease liabilities	698	1,041
Total	2,312	2,587

31 December 2024

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

	Notes	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Cost of inventories sold		471,844	459,042
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment*	13	14,260	14,322
Depreciation of right-of-use assets*	15(a)	16,782	14,413
Lease payments not included in the measurement of			
lease liabilities	15(c)	20	39
Auditor's remuneration		2,140	2,030
Employee benefit expense (including directors' remuneration (note 8))*:			
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances		116,024	120,195
Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution schemes)#		16,869	16,040
	-		
Total	_	132,893	136,235
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance)			
arising from rental-earning investment property		5	_
Fair value loss of an investment property	14	11	
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net [^]	17	3,204	(694)
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, net		42	15
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of inventories to net			
realisable value*		(7,069)	14,913

The cost of sales for the year included depreciation charge of property, plant and equipment of HK\$10,511,000 (2023: HK\$10,643,000), depreciation charge of right-of-use assets of HK\$11,985,000 (2023: HK\$10,923,000), employee benefit expense of HK\$58,016,000 (2023: HK\$62,456,000) and reversal of write-down of inventories to net realisable value of HK\$7,069,000 (2023: write-down of inventories to net realisable value of HK\$14,913,000).

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

[^] Included in "Other expenses, net" in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

31 December 2024

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

Directors' and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Fees	1,134	740
Other emoluments: Salaries and allowances Discretionary bonuses Pension scheme contributions	9,120 5,895 96	9,078 5,921 104
Subtotal	15,111	15,103
Total	16,245	15,843

(a) Independent non-executive directors

	Fees HK\$'000	Pension scheme contributions HK\$'000	Total remuneration HK\$'000
2024			
Mr. Chan Ping Yim* Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny Mr. Chan Shing Jee Ms. Chan Tak Yi Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina	126 252 252 252 252 252	- - - -	126 252 252 252 252 252
Total 2023	1,134	_	1,134
Mr. Chan Ping Yim Mr. Choi Chi Leung Danny Mr. Chan Shing Jee Ms. Chan Tak Yi [#] Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina [#]	242 242 242 7 7	- - - -	242 242 242 7 7
Total	740		740

^{*} Mr. Chan Ping Yim retired as an independent non-executive director of the Company upon the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 June 2024.

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).

[#] Ms. Chan Tak Yi and Ms. Leung Lai Yee Edwina were appointed as independent non-executive directors of the Company on 21 December 2023.

31 December 2024

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

	Fees HK\$'000	Salaries and allowances HK\$'000	Discretionary bonuses HK\$'000	Pension scheme contributions HK\$'000	Total remuneration HK\$'000
2024					
Executive directors:					
Mr. Chan Wai Ming	-	1,693	247	24	1,964
Mr. Chiu Wai Kwong	-	1,559	227	24	1,810
Ms. Tang Mei Wah	-	1,055	154	24	1,233
Dr. Yu Kwok Wai	-	1,009	147	24	1,180
Non-executive directors:					
Dr. Chan Kam Kwong Charles	-	2,004	2,706	-	4,710
Ms. Cheng Yuk Sim Connie		1,800	2,414		4,214
Total		9,120	5,895	96	15,111
2023					
Executive directors:					
Mr. Chan Wai Ming	_	1,684	247	24	1,955
Mr. Chiu Wai Kwong	_	1,554	227	24	1,805
Ms. Tang Mei Wah	_	1,045	154	24	1,223
Dr. Yu Kwok Wai	-	1,001	147	24	1,172
Non-executive directors:					
Dr. Chan Kam Kwong Charles	-	1,994	2,695	8	4,697
Ms. Cheng Yuk Sim Connie		1,800	2,451		4,251
Total	_	9,078	5,921	104	15,103

During the year, no remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director or a chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2023: Nil).

31 December 2024

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2023: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2023: two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Salaries and allowances	2,440	2,426
Discretionary bonuses	1,242	1,242
Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution scheme)	36	36
Total	3,718	3,704

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

	Number of employees		
	2024	2023	
HK\$1,500,001 to HK\$2,000,000	2	2	

During the year, no remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to the highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

31 December 2024

10. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK\$2,000,000 (2023: HK\$2,000,000) of assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Current — Hong Kong		
Charge for the year	14,469	14,547
Overprovision in prior years	(12)	(12)
Current — Mainland China		
Charge for the year	8,875	14,933
Underprovision in prior years	1,532	880
Deferred (note 23)	(2,057)	(5,794)
Total tax charge for the year	22,807	24,554

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate to the tax charge at the Group's effective tax rate is as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Profit before tax	130,417	146,760
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%)	21,519	24,215
Lower tax rate under two-tiered profits tax rates regime	(165)	(165)
Difference in tax rates applied for specific provinces or local authority	(776)	(986)
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the distributable profits of a PRC subsidiary of the Group	2,076	2,947
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous periods	1,520	868
Super deduction on eligible research and development expenses of		
a PRC subsidiary of the Group	(1,617)	(2,180)
Income not subject to tax	(754)	(951)
Expenses not deductible for tax	1,001	814
Tax losses not recognised	3	3
Others	-	(11)
Tax charge at the Group's effective tax rate	22,807	24,554

31 December 2024

11. DIVIDENDS

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:		
Final 2023 — HK15.1 cents (2022: HK19.3 cents) per ordinary share	54,209	69.287
Interim 2024 — HK11.0 cents (2023: HK15.0 cents) per ordinary share	39,490	53,850
Total	93,699	123,137
Dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period:		
Proposed final 2024 — HK16.1 cents (2023: HK15.1 cents)		
per ordinary share	57,799	54,209

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Company's shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company of HK\$107,610,000 (2023: HK\$122,206,000), and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 359,000,000 (2023: 359,000,000) outstanding during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

31 December 2024

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

	Buildings HK\$'000	Leasehold improvements HK\$'000	Plant and machinery HK\$'000	Furniture, fixtures and equipment HK\$'000	Moulds HK\$'000	Construction in progress HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
31 December 2024							
At 31 December 2023 and at 1 January 2024: Cost Accumulated depreciation	16,710 (1,257)	21,160 (10,861)	48,760 (18,510)	11,188 (5,478)	37,236 (20,818)	Ξ.	135,054 (56,924)
Net carrying amount	15,453	10,299	30,250	5,710	16,418	-	78,130
At 1 January 2024, net of accumulated depreciation Additions Disposals Depreciation provided during	15,453 5,010 - (804)	10,299 2,975 - (4,089)	30,250 6,558 (63)	5,710 346 -	16,418 7,688 (9) (4,677)	- 127 -	78,130 22,704 (72)
the year Exchange realignment	(004)	(4,089)	(3,047) (698)	(1,643) (82)	(396)	(2)	(14,260) (1,246)
At 31 December 2024, net of accumulated depreciation	19,659	9,117	33,000	4,331	19,024	125	85,256
At 31 December 2024: Cost Accumulated depreciation	21,720 (2,061)	23,852 (14,735)	53,902 (20,902)	11,324 (6,993)	43,983 (24,959)	125 -	154,906 (69,650)
Net carrying amount	19,659	9,117	33,000	4,331	19,024	125	85,256
31 December 2023							
At 1 January 2023: Cost Accumulated depreciation	16,710 (597)	17,947 (7,076)	46,706 (15,068)	9,853 (3,828)	32,108 (16,972)	- -	123,324 (43,541)
Net carrying amount	16,113	10,871	31,638	6,025	15,136	_	79,783
At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated depreciation Additions Disposals	16,113 - -	10,871 3,423 (51)	31,638 2,858 (12)	6,025 1,468 –	15,136 5,818 (34)	- - -	79,783 13,567 (97)
Depreciation provided during the year	(660)	(3,888)	(3,788)	(1,711)	(4,275)	_	(14,322)
Exchange realignment —	-	(56)	(446)	(72)	(227)		(801)
At 31 December 2023, net of accumulated depreciation	15,453	10,299	30,250	5,710	16,418		78,130
At 31 December 2023: Cost Accumulated depreciation	16,710 (1,257)	21,160 (10,861)	48,760 (18,510)	11,188 (5,478)	37,236 (20,818)	- -	135,054 (56,924)
Net carrying amount	15,453	10,299	30,250	5,710	16,418		78,130
_				-,	,		

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's building with a net carrying amount of HK\$10,424,000 (2023: HK\$15,453,000) was pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 22).

31 December 2024

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Carrying amount at 1 January	_	_
Addition Loss from a fair value adjustment	2,211 (11)	_
Carrying amount at 31 December	2,200	_

The Group's investment property is a car parking space in Hong Kong. The Group's investment property was revalued on 31 December 2024 based on a valuation performed by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent firm of professionally qualified valuers, at HK\$2,200,000. Each year, the Group's management decides to appoint which external valuer to be responsible for the external valuation of the Group's property. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained. The Group's management has discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results once a year when the valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

The investment property is leased to a third party under an operating lease, further summary details of which are included in note 15 to the financial statements.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's investment property:

	Fair valu 31 De			
	Quoted prices in active markets (Level 1) HK\$'000	Significant observable inputs (Level 2) HK\$'000	Significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Recurring fair value measurement for: Car parking space		-	2,200	2,200

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

	Car parking space HK\$'000
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023, at 31 December 2023 and at 1 January 2024 Addition Loss from a fair value adjustment	- 2,211 (11)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024	2,200

31 December 2024

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key input to the valuation of investment property:

	Valuation technique	Significant unobservable input	Range	
			2024	2023
Car parking space	Direct comparison method	Estimated price per space	HK\$2,190,000 to HK\$2,500,000	N/A

The investment property was valued using the direct comparison method having regard to comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant market. The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the property which included the location, size, floor level, year of completion and other factors collectively. A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated price per space in isolation would result in a significant increase/ (decrease) in the fair value of the investment property.

15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group leases its ancillary office, factory, warehouse and staff quarters from related companies under operating lease arrangements. The leases are negotiated for terms ranging from 6 to 42 months. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 23 to 25 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land leases. The office equipment leased by the Group are of low value.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as follows:

	Leasehold	Leased	
	land	properties	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At t January 2000	01.010	04.010	05.004
At 1 January 2023	61,312	24,019	85,331
Depreciation charge during the year	(2,502)	(11,911)	(14,413)
Exchange realignment		(270)	(270)
At 31 December 2023 and at 1 January 2024	58,810	11,838	70,648
Additions	13,101	11,115	24,216
Remeasurement on lease modification	-	38,719	38,719
Depreciation charge during the year	(2,919)	(13,863)	(16,782)
Exchange realignment		(792)	(792)
At 31 December 2024	68,992	47,017	116,009

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's leasehold land with a net carrying amount of HK\$35,691,000 (2023: HK\$58,810,000) was pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 22).

31 December 2024

15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
		_
At 1 January	12,501	24,688
New leases	11,115	_
Remeasurement on lease modification	38,719	_
Accretion of interest recognised during the year	698	1,041
Payments during the year	(14,475)	(12,948)
Exchange realignment	(807)	(280)
At 31 December	47,751	12,501
Analysed into:		
Due within one year	16,168	12,501
Due in the second year	16,083	_
Due in the third year	15,500	
Total	47,751	12,501

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Interest on lease liabilities	698	1,041
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets	16,782	14,413
Expense relating to short-term leases		
(included in administrative expenses)	- /	20
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets		
(included in administrative expenses)	20	19
Total amount recognised in profit or loss	17,500	15,493

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 26(c) to the financial statements.

31 December 2024

15. LEASES (Continued)

16.

Total

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment property and a portion of its owner-occupied property under operating lease arrangements. Rental income recognised by the Group in respect of these operating lease arrangements during the year was HK\$92,000 (2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Within one year	15	
INVENTORIES		
	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Raw materials	34,630	31,786
Work in progress Finished goods	17,213 48,285	10,715 17,599

100,128

60,100

31 December 2024

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES

	2024	2023	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Trade receivables	135,704	67,471	
Impairment	(3,635)	(431)	
Net carrying amount	132,069	67,040	

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally required. The credit period is generally one month, extending up to four months for major customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

<u>/</u>	2024 HK\$'000	
Within 30 days	18,903	25,904
31 to 90 days	54,691	26,124
Over 90 days	58,475	15,012
Total	132,069	67,040

31 December 2024

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
At beginning of year	431	1,125
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses), net (note 7)	3,204	(694)
At end of year	3,635	431

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more than 120 days and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

		Past due			
	Current	Less than 30 days	31 to 90 days	Over 90 days	Total
Expected credit loss rate	0.02%	3.33%	20.60%	27.68%	2.68%
Gross carrying amount (HK\$'000) Expected credit losses (HK\$'000)	98,200 20	23,799 792	13,697 2,821	8 2	135,704 3,635

As at 31 December 2023

		Past due			
	Current	Less than 30 days	31 to 90 days	Over 90 days	Total
Expected credit loss rate	0.38%	0.76%	3.52%	_	0.64%
Gross carrying amount (HK\$'000)	46,185	17,902	3,384	_	67,471
Expected credit losses (HK\$'000)	176	136	119	-	431

31 December 2024

18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Prepayments	17,658	5,241
Deposits	302	256
Other receivables	9,371	3,731
Total	27,331	9,228
Less: Portion classified as non-current assets	(206)	(212)
Portion classified as current assets	27,125	9,016

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to deposits and receivables for which there was no recent history of default and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Cash and bank balances	76,714	52,101
Time deposits	-	135,706
Subtotal	76,714	187,807
Less: Pledged deposits for credit facilities	(820)	(88)
Cash and cash equivalents	75,894	187,719

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances and time deposits of the Group denominated in Renminbi ("RMB") amounted to HK\$24,897,000 (2023: HK\$16,071,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

31 December 2024

20. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Within 30 days	13,231	11,330
31 to 90 days	43,056	26,775
Over 90 days	2,167	4,750
Total	58,454	42,855

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms ranging from 30 to 90 days.

21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

	Notes	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
			<u> </u>
Contract liabilities	(a)	18,673	14,656
Other payables	(b)	1,649	2,621
Accruals		29,309	26,666
Total		49,631	43,943
Less: Portion classified as non-current liabilities	_	(220)	(412)
Portion classified as current liabilities	_	49,411	43,531
Notes:			
(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:			
	31 December	31 December	1 January
	2024	2023	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Chartenan			
Short-term advances received from customers for the sale of goods	18,673	14,656	45,927

The increase (2023: decrease) in contract liabilities in 2024 was mainly due to the increase (2023: decrease) in short-term advances received from customers for the sale of goods at the end of the year.

(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.

31 December 2024

22. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

		2024			2023		
	Contractual interest rate (%)	Maturity	HK\$'000	Contractual interest rate (%)	Maturity	HK\$'000	
Portion of bank loan due for repayment within one year or on demand — secured	Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR") +1	2025	2,487	HIBOR +1	2024	2,488	
Portions of bank loans due for repayment within one year or on demand — unsecured	CNH HIBOR +1.2 to HIBOR +1.8	2025	21,942	HIBOR +1.2	2024	602	
Portion of bank loan due for repayment after one year which contains repayment on demand clause (note) — secured	HIBOR +1	2026-2032	15,546	HIBOR +1	2025–2032	18,033	
Portion of bank loan due for repayment after one year which contains repayment on demand clause (note) — unsecured	-			HIBOR +1.2	2025 _	263	
Total		_	39,975		_	21,386	

Note:

A term loan of the Group containing repayable on demand clauses as at 31 December 2024 with a carrying amount of HK\$18,033,000 (2023: HK\$21,386,000) has been classified in total as current liabilities. Accordingly, portion of the bank loan due for repayment after one year as at 31 December 2024 with a carrying amount of HK\$15,546,000 (2023: HK\$18,296,000) has been classified as current liabilities. For the purpose of the above analysis, the loan is included within current interest-bearing bank borrowings and analysed into bank loans repayable within one year or on demand.

Ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause and based on the maturity terms of these term loans, the Group's bank borrowings are repayable:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Within one year	24,429	3,090
In the second year	2,487	2,750
In the third to fifth years, inclusive	7,462	7,462
Beyond five years	5,597	8,084
Total	39,975	21,386

⁽a) The Group's bank borrowings are secured by the pledge of leasehold land and buildings with an aggregate carrying value of HK\$46,115,000 (2023: HK\$74,263,000) as at 31 December 2024 (notes 13 and 15(a)).

⁽b) Except for bank borrowings of HK\$14,942,000 (2023: Nil) as at 31 December 2024, which are denominated in RMB, the remaining bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

31 December 2024

23. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

	Depreciation allowance in excess of related depreciation	Right-of- use assets	Withholding tax	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023	33	3,602	8,428	12,063
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year (note 10) Exchange realignment	68	(1,786) (41)	(5,253) (88)	(6,971) (129)
Exchange realignment		(41)	(00)	(129)
At 31 December 2023 and at 1 January 2024	101	1,775	3,087	4,963
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the consolidated				
statement of profit or loss during the year (note 10)	(31)	5,396	(1,038)	4,327
Exchange realignment		(119)	(51)	(170)
At 31 December 2024	70	7,052	1,998	9,120

31 December 2024

23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

	Depreciation in excess of related depreciation allowance HK\$'000	Lease liabilities HK\$'000	Losses available for offsetting against future taxable profits HK\$'000	Others HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023	16	3,703	122	1,642	5,483
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the consolidated statement of profit or loss	10	0,700	122	1,042	0,400
during the year (note 10)	211	(1,786)	(75)	473	(1,177)
Exchange realignment	<u>- /- </u>	(42)		(24)	(66)
At 31 December 2023 and at 1 January 2024	227	1,875	47	2,091	4,240
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the consolidated statement of profit or loss					
during the year (note 10)	225	5,409	15	735	6,384
Exchange realignment	<u> </u>	(121)	-	(45)	(166)
At 31 December 2024	452	7,163	62	2,781	10,458

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position. The following is analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Not deferred toy assets recognised in the consolidated statement		
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position	3,337	2,364
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position	(1,999)	(3,087)
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)	1,338	(723)

31 December 2024

23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK\$39,000 (2023: HK\$18,000), subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for offsetting against the future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses due to unpredictability of future taxable profit streams.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is 5% for the Group.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

24. SHARE CAPITAL

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Authorised: 4,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK\$0.01 each	40,000	40,000
Issued and fully paid: 359,000,000 ordinary shares of HK\$0.01 each	3,590	3,590

25. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 66 of the financial statements.

(a) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the nominal value of the paid-up capital of a subsidiary acquired by the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in 2018.

(b) Capital contribution reserve

Capital contribution reserve represents capital contribution of HK\$63,000,000 from the former immediate holding company of the Company in 2018.

(c) Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the fair value of the 1,003 ordinary shares of the Company awarded to certain key management personnel of the Group in 2017 in exchange for services rendered by them.

(d) Statutory reserve funds

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China, a portion of the profits of the Company's subsidiaries in Mainland China has been transferred to the statutory reserve funds which are restricted as to use.

31 December 2024

26. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

- (i) During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK\$11,115,000 (2023: Nil) and HK\$11,115,000 (2023: Nil), respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for leased properties.
- (ii) During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK\$38,719,000 (2023: Nil) and HK\$38,719,000 (2023: Nil), respectively, in respect of lease modification for a leased property.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 2024

	Interest-bearing bank borrowings HK\$'000	Lease liabilities HK\$'000
At 1 January 2024	21,386	12,501
Changes from financing cash flows Interest paid classified as financing cash flows	18,589 -	(13,777) (698)
Non-cash changes: New leases Remeasurement on lease modification	-	11,115 38,719
Interest expense Foreign exchange movement		698 (807)
At 31 December 2024	39,975	47,751
2023		
	Interest-bearing bank borrowings HK\$'000	Lease liabilities HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023	35,755	24,688
Changes from financing cash flows Interest paid classified as financing cash flows Non-cash changes:	(14,369)	(11,907) (1,041)
Interest expense Foreign exchange movement		1,041 (280)
At 31 December 2023	21,386	12,501

31 December 2024

26. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash flows is as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Within operating activities	20	39
Within financing activities	14,475	12,948
Total	14,495	12,987

27. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end of the reporting period:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Leasehold improvements	29	130
Plant and machinery	888	136
Furniture, fixtures and equipment	680	20
Moulds	4,916	1,259
Total	6,513	1,545

31 December 2024

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the balances, arrangements and transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the year:

	Note	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
東保利電業(惠州)有限公司 ("Tunbow (Huizhou)")*: Lease payments	<i>(i)</i>	13,206	12,948
東保達電子(惠州)有限公司 ("Tunbow Electronics (Huizhou)")*: Lease payments	(ii)	1,269	-
Tunbow Charity Foundation Limited [^] : Charitable contributions		880	1,100

^{*} These related companies are controlled by Modern Expression.

Note:

(i) The lease payments were charged by the related companies at monthly fixed amounts as detailed in notes 28(b)(i) and 28(b)(ii).

(b) Other transactions with related parties:

- (i) On 30 September 2021, the Group entered into a tenancy agreement with Tunbow (Huizhou) for the lease of premises for a term of 3 years ending 31 December 2024 at a monthly rent of RMB1,020,433 (inclusive of value-added tax). On 10 May 2024, the Group entered into tenancy agreements with Tunbow (Huizhou) for the leases of premises for terms of 6 months ended 31 December 2024 and 3 years ending 31 December 2027 at monthly rents of RMB67,223 (inclusive of value-added tax) and RMB1,172,692 (inclusive of value-added tax), respectively.
- (ii) On 10 May 2024, the Group entered into a tenancy agreement with Tunbow Electronics (Huizhou) for the lease of premises for a term of 42 months ending 31 December 2027 at a monthly rent of RMB202,563 (inclusive of value-added tax).

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including directors' and chief executive's remuneration as disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements, is as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Short-term employee benefits Post-employment benefits	21,448 204	21,447 212
Total compensation paid to key management personnel	21,652	21,659

[^] The directors of this charity fund are Dr. Chan Kam Kwong Charles and Ms. Cheng Yuk Sim Connie, directors and controlling shareholders of the Company.

31 December 2024

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial assets

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Figure 1 and 1 and 1 and 1 and 1 and 1		
Financial assets at amortised cost:	100.000	07.040
Trade receivables	132,069	67,040
Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables	717	806
Pledged deposits	820	88
Cash and cash equivalents	75,894	187,719
_		
Total	209,500	255,653
Financial liabilities	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:		
Trade payables	58,454	42,855
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals	8,094	5,921
Interest-bearing bank borrowings	39,975	21,386
Lease liabilities	47,751	12,501
Total	154,274	82,663

30. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade payables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, and interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

31 December 2024

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits and interest-bearing bank borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade payables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, and lease liabilities, which mainly arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's interest-bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risk. The Group mitigates this risk by closely monitoring the movements in interest rates and reviewing its available credit facilities and their utilisation regularly.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

	Increase/ (decrease) in basis points	Increase/ (decrease) in profit before tax HK\$'000
2024		
Hong Kong dollar Hong Kong dollar	25 (25)	(63) 63
RMB RMB	25 (25)	(37)
2023		
Hong Kong dollar Hong Kong dollar	25 (25)	(53) 53

31 December 2024

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures mainly arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other than the units' functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB and United States dollar ("USD") exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax (arising from RMB and USD denominated financial instruments).

	Increase/ (decrease) in RMB/USD rate %	Increase/ (decrease) in profit before tax HK\$'000
2024		
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against the RMB	5.0	3,515
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against the RMB	(5.0)	(3,515)
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against the USD	5.0	7,754
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against the USD	(5.0)	(7,754)
2023		
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against the RMB	5.0	(162)
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against the RMB	(5.0)	162
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against the USD	5.0	11,355
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against the USD	(5.0)	(11,355)

31 December 2024

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group mainly transacts with recognised and creditworthy third parties. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024

	12-month ECLs	L	ifetime ECLs	6	
	Stage 1 HK\$'000	Stage 2 HK\$'000	Stage 3 HK\$'000	Simplified approach HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Trade receivables*	-	-	-	135,704	135,704
Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables					
Normal** Pledged deposits	717	-	-	-	717
Not yet past due Cash and cash equivalents	820	-	-	-	820
Not yet past due	75,894	_	_		75,894
Total	77,431	-	-	135,704	213,135

31 December 2024

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

	12-month				
	ECLs	Lifetime ECLs			
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Simplified approach	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Trade receivables*				67 171	67 471
Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables	_	_	_	67,471	67,471
Normal**Pledged deposits	806	-	-	_	806
Not yet past due Cash and cash equivalents	88	-	_	_	88
 Not yet past due 	187,719	_		_	187,719
Total	188,613	-	-	67,471	256,084

^{*} For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 65% (2023: 24%) and 85% (2023: 78%) of the Group's gross trade receivables were due from the Group's largest customer and five largest customers, respectively.

^{**} The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to be "normal" when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be "doubtful".

31 December 2024

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group's exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds by considering the maturities of both its financial liabilities and financial assets.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings. The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet its liquidity requirements.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

		2024			
		Less than			
	On demand	1 year	1 to 5 years	Total	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Trade payables	-	58,454	-	58,454	
Financial liabilities included in other					
payables and accruals	-	8,094	-	8,094	
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note)	39,975	-	-	39,975	
Lease liabilities		16,973	33,945	50,918	
Total	39,975	83,521	33,945	157,441	
		20)23		
		Less than		A	
	On demand	1 year	1 to 5 years	Total	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Trade payables	_	42,855	_	42,855	
Financial liabilities included in other					
payables and accruals	_	5,921	-	5,921	
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note)	21,386	_	-	21,386	
Lease liabilities	-	12,869	_	12,869	
Total	21,386	61,645	-	83,031	

31 December 2024

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Note:

Included in the above interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024 is a term loan with a carrying amount of HK\$18,033,000 (2023: HK\$21,386,000). The loan agreement contains a repayment on demand clause giving the bank the unconditional right to call in the loan at any time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total amount is classified as "on demand".

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that the loan will be called in its entirety within 12 months from the end of the reporting period, and they consider that the loan will be repaid in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the loan agreement. This evaluation was made considering: the financial position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial statements; the lack of events of default; and the fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled repayments on time.

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain repayment on demand clauses, the maturity profile of those loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause, is as follows:

	Less than 1 year HK\$'000	1 to 5 years HK\$'000	Over 5 years HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
As at 31 December 2024	3,410	12,265	5,932	21,607
As at 31 December 2023	4,007	12,594	8,671	25,272

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders' value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

Capital of the Group comprises all components of shareholders' equity.

31 December 2024

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
NON-CURRENT ASSET Investment in a subsidiary		
CURRENT ASSETS Prepayments	484	213
Due from a subsidiary Tax recoverable	119,687 5	149,972 -
Cash and cash equivalents	30,924	626
Total current assets	151,100	150,811
CURRENT LIABILITIES Accruals Tax payable	272 	276 23
Total current liabilities	272	299
NET CURRENT ASSETS	150,828	150,512
Net assets	150,828	150,512
EQUITY Issued capital Reserves (note)	3,590 147,238	3,590 146,922
Total equity	150,828	150,512

31 December 2024

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:

	Share premium	Capital contribution	Retained	
	account HK\$'000	reserve HK\$'000	profits HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
	111/4 000	111/4 000	11/4 000	11174 000
At 1 January 2023	73,524	63,000	14,801	151,325
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year	-	-	118,734	118,734
Final 2022 dividend	-	-	(69,287)	(69,287)
Interim 2023 dividend		_	(53,850)	(53,850)
At 31 December 2023 and at 1 January 2024	73,524	63,000	10,398	146,922
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year	_	-	94,015	94,015
Final 2023 dividend	-	_	(54,209)	(54,209)
Interim 2024 dividend			(39,490)	(39,490)
At 21 December 2004	70.504	62,000	10.714	147.000
At 31 December 2024	73,524	63,000	10,714	147,238

The Company's capital contribution reserve represents capital contribution of HK\$63,000,000 from the former immediate holding company of the Company in 2018.

33. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 17 March 2025.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out below:

	Results for the year ended 31 December				
	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
REVENUE	703,593	704,417	823,658	763,085	541,697
Cost of sales	(471,844)	(459,042)	(561,198)	(542,097)	(357,660)
Gross profit	231,749	245,375	262,460	220,988	184,037
Other income and gains, net	18,657	14,471	11,078	4,522	13,171
Selling and distribution expenses	(15,588)	(17,213)	(15,035)	(14,648)	(10,142)
General and administrative expenses	(98,832)	(93,965)	(91,845)	(84,515)	(63,234)
Other expenses, net	(3,257)	679	(1,655)	357	566
Finance costs	(2,312)	(2,587)	(3,972)	(840)	(1,657)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX	130,417	146,760	161,031	125,864	122,741
Income tax expense	(22,807)	(24,554)	(26,720)	(19,360)	(18,549)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR	107,610	122,206	134,311	106,504	104,192
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR	107,610	122,206	134,311	106,504	104,192
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)					
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations	(3,547)	(4,317)	(20,359)	3,577	5,638
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR	104,063	117,889	113,952	110,081	109,830
	As at 31 December				
/ / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /	2024 2023 2022 2021 2020				2020
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Total assets	554,456	477,348	581,850	608,477	474,894
Total liabilities	199,414	132,670	231,924	276,291	165,911
Total equity	355,042	344,678	349,926	332,186	308,983